### Kaija Alfthan

# Structural stability and binding properties of soluble and membrane-anchored recombinant antibodies





# Structural stability and binding properties of soluble and membraneanchored recombinant antibodies

Kaija Alfthan VTT Biotechnology

Department of Biosciences Division of Biochemistry Faculty of Science University of Helsinki, Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the auditorium 1041 at the Department of Biosciences, Biocenter, Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki, on April 20th, 2001, at 12 o'clock noon.



TECHNICAL RESEARCH CENTRE OF FINLAND ESPOO 2001 ISBN 951-38-5842-1(soft back ed.) ISSN 1235-0621 (soft back ed.)

ISBN 951-38-5843-X(URL:http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/) ISSN 1455-0849 (URL:http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/ )

Copyright © Valtion teknillinen tutkimuskeskus (VTT) 2001

#### JULKAISIJA – UTGIVARE – PUBLISHER

Valtion teknillinen tutkimuskeskus (VTT), Vuorimiehentie 5, PL 2000, 02044 VTT puh. vaihde (09) 4561, faksi (09) 456 4374

Statens tekniska forskningscentral (VTT), Bergsmansvägen 5, PB 2000, 02044 VTT tel. växel (09) 4561, fax (09) 456 4374

Technical Research Centre of Finland (VTT), Vuorimiehentie 5, P.O.Box 2000, FIN–02044 VTT, Finland phone internat. + 358 9 4561, fax + 358 9 456 4374

VTT Biotekniikka, Biomolekyylit, Tietotie 2, PL 1500, 02044 VTT puh. vaihde (09) 4561, faksi (09) 455 2103

VTT Bioteknik, Biomolekyler, Datavägen 2, PB 1500, 02044 VTT tel. växel (09) 4561, fax (09) 455 2103

VTT Biotechnology, Biomolecules, Tietotie 2, P.O.Box 1500, FIN–02044 VTT, Finland phone internat. + 358 9 4561, fax + 358 9 455 2103

Technical editing Leena Ukskoski

Otamedia Oy, Espoo 2001



То

Alfthan, Kaija. Structural stability and binding properties of soluble and membrane-anchored recombinant antibodies. Espoo 2001. Technical Research Centre of Finland, VTT Publications 432. 105 p. + app. 39 p.

Keywords recombinant antibodies, antibody engineering, structural stability, binding, expression, *Escherichia coli*, display

### Abstract

Antibody engineering and advances in microbial expression systems have enabled production of small, active antibody fragments. However, the functional expression yields of these recombinant antibodies vary widely. The results described in this thesis elucidate factors influencing the expression of stable and active antibody fragments in bacteria. The model antibody used throughout this study was a mouse monoclonal antibody binding to 2-phenyloxazolone (Ox). It was shown that the first constant domain of the heavy chain ( $C_{H}$ ) has a remarkable effect on secretion of functional and stable Fab fragments. Comparison of the production of the Ox IgG1 and Ox IgG3 subclass Fab fragments in bacteria demonstrated the superiority of the Ox IgG1 Fab compared to the Ox IgG3 Fab. In addition to its effect on secretion, the C<sub>H</sub>1 domain contributes to the thermal stability of the antibody fragments. To study the effect of a linker peptide on both proteolytic stability and binding activity of singlechain antibodies, six different Ox scFv derivatives and an Ox Fv fragment with no joining peptide between the variable domains were constructed. It was shown that joining of the variable domains with a linker peptide improved hapten binding properties compared to the Ox Fv fragment, but may expose the fragment to proteolytic degradation. Truncation of the linker peptide to less than 12 amino acids induced formation of dimers or multimers. The binding affinities determined for the monomeric Ox scFv and Ox IgG1 Fab fragments using the BIAcore biosensor and fluorescence quenching methods were close to each other and comparable to that of the parental monoclonal antibody.

In addition to studies with soluble antibody fragments, this work was extended to cover characterization of antibody fragments displayed on liposomes and on the surface of baculovirus. Immunoliposomes have potential applications both in therapy and in immunodiagnostics. In this work liposomes displaying antibodies were generated by incorporation of purified lipid-tagged Ox scFvs expressed in Е. *coli* into phospholipid liposomes. It was demonstrated that the biosynthetically lipid-tagged Ox scFv molecules can be immobilized in a functional, stable and oriented manner onto liposomal membranes, resulting in immunoliposomes showing specific hapten binding. BIAcore analysis of the immunoliposomes revealed very slow dissociation from the Ox surface, which is agreement with the predicted multivalent nature of in good the immunoliposomes. The baculoviral display approach holds a promise as a candidate for a eukaryotic display system. In this work single-chain antibodies were used as a model to investigate functional expression of foreign proteins on the surface of baculovirus. Viral vectors displaying cell targeting moieties such as single-chain antibodies have aroused interest as gene transfer vehicles. Two Ox scFv derivatives and a human scFv specific for carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) were fused to the major envelope protein (gp64) of the Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus (AcNPV). It was shown that the two single-chain antibodies which contained a (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker peptide were incorporated into the budded virus particles and expressed as functional hapten/antigen binding fragments on the viral surface. In the case of the third scFv containing a natural linker peptide derived from a fungal cellulase, less efficient incorporation into the virus particles was observed.

## Preface

This work was carried out at VTT Biotechnology (previuosly named VTT Biotechnology and Food Research). I express my sincere gratitude to Research Director, Professor Juha Ahvenainen, Professor Matti Linko, Research Professor Hans Söderlund and Research Manager Richard Fagerström for providing excellent working facilities and for their encouragement during this work. Professor Carl Gahmberg at the Department of Biosciences, Division of Biochemistry, University of Helsinki, is warmly acknowledged not only for his co-operation during the final stages of my thesis but also for his constant support throughout my studies. I am grateful to Docents Ari Hinkkanen and Harri Siitari, the official referees of my thesis, for providing constructive criticism and valuable comments, which clearly improved the content of my thesis.

I am deeply indebted to Professor Tuula Teeri, who introduced me to the field of antibody engineering and supervised me during my first studies in this work. I am most grateful for her endless support, interest and encouragement over the years. In addition to the inspiring moments in science, I am also glad to have her as a friend. I would like to express my sincere thanks to Docent Kristiina Takkinen for supervision and for helping me in many ways during the course of the work. Her support and expertise have been an invaluable help. I am especially grateful to Kristiina for introducing to me both basic and novel techniques in molecular biology.

I am very pleased to have had the opportunity to collaborate with Tiina Immonen, Matti Kaartinen, Kari Keinänen, Sirkka Keränen, Jonathan Knowles, Marja-Leena Laukkanen, David Mottershead, Kirsi Ojala, Christian Oker-Blom, Ilkka Seppälä, Dorothea Sizmann and Liisa Vanne. Especially, I wish to thank Jonathan for creating a dynamic and stimulating atmosphere in the laboratory during my first steps in the Antibody engineering group. I am also grateful to Matti and Ilkka for teaching me many basic methods in purification and characterization of antibodies in the beginning of this work.

My very warm thanks are extended to my colleagues for many years, Marja-Leena Laukkanen, Ari Hemminki, Tarja Nevanen and Adelina Orellana, for sharing a number of fruitful and enjoyable moments both in science and life in general. I am also grateful to my colleagues Matti Höyhtyä, Sirpa Jylhä, Kari Kataja, Timo Pulli, Mirka Ristola and Tuija Teerinen for their help and pleasant everyday company. Special thanks go to Kariitta Berg for her skillful and professional technical assistance. I am continuously impressed by her effective and devoted style of work. I also warmly thank Tuula Kuurila, Armi Boman, Anja Pallas, Pirkko Veijola-Bailey, Helena Kosloff and Arja Levo for their proficient help and positive attitude. Annikki Iso-Koivisto, Mirjami Pelkonen and Kati Sulin are thanked for good maintaining of the laboratory facilities. I am grateful to Michael Bailey for revising the language of this thesis and to Oili Lappalainen for skillful secretarial assistance. I also thank all the present and former members of the Immunotechnology group and all members of the laboratory for creating such a nice and friendly working atmosphere.

I am truly thankful to my close friends and my relatives for their company and support during these years. I express my most sincere and heartful thanks to my parents, Rauha and Erkki Sipponen, for their continuous caring and encouragement. Finally, I owe my warmest thoughts to my dear husband, Henrik, whose love and support helped me to complete this work, and to our children, Alexandra and Sebastian, who have filled my life with enormous joy.

The financial support of the National Technology Agency (Tekes) is gratefully acknowledged.

## List of publications

This thesis is based on the following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I–V). In addition some unpublished data is presented.

- I Alfthan, K., Takkinen, K., Sizmann, D., Seppälä, I., Immonen, T., Vanne, L., Keränen, S., Kaartinen, M., Knowles, J.K.C. and Teeri, T.T. 1993. Efficient secretion of murine Fab fragments by *Escherichia coli* is determined by the first constant domain of the heavy chain. *Gene*, 128, 203–209.
- II Laukkanen, M.-L., Alfthan, K. and Keinänen, K. 1994. Functional immunoliposomes harboring a biosynthetically lipid-tagged single-chain antibody. *Biochemistry*, 33, 11664–11670.
- III Alfthan, K., Takkinen, K., Sizmann, D., Söderlund, H. and Teeri, T.T. 1995. Properties of a single-chain antibody containing different linker peptides. *Protein Eng.*, 8, 725–731.
- IV Mottershead, D., Alfthan, K., Ojala, K., Takkinen, K. and Oker-Blom,
  C. 2000. Baculoviral display of functional scFv and synthetic IgGbinding domains. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 275, 84–90.
- V Alfthan, K. 1998. Surface plasmon resonance biosensors as a tool in antibody engineering (a review). *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, 13, 653–663.

# Contents

Ab	stract			5					
Pre	eface .			7					
Lis	List of publications								
Ab	brevia	ations							
1.	Intro	1	13						
1.1 Antibody structure									
	1.2 Recombinant antibodies		nbinant antibodies	15					
		1.2.1	Expression of antibodies in Escherichia coli						
		1.2.2	Fab fragments						
		1.2.3	Single-chain antibodies						
		1.2.4	Multivalent antibodies						
		1.2.5	Bispecific antibodies						
		1.2.6	Bifunctional antibodies						
	1.3 Applications of recombinant antibodies		cations of recombinant antibodies						
		1.3.1	Immunodiagnostics						
		1.3.2	Therapy						
		1.3.3	Structure analysis						
1.4 Display technology			ay technology						
		1.4.1	Phage display						
		1.4.2	Baculovirus display						
		1.4.3	Other display systems						
1.5 Immunoliposomes		noliposomes	41						
		1.5.1	Preparation						
		1.5.2	Applications						
	1.6	Real-time biospecific interaction analysis							
	1.7	Aims of the present study							
2.	Materials and methods								
	2.1	The ar	ntibody expression constructions						
		2.1.1	Construction of human scFv gene libraries						
	2.2	Expres	ssion and purification of the antibody fragments	51					

	2.3	3 Preparation of immunoliposomes				
	2.4	.4 Isolation of scFvs from a phage library				
	2.5	Characterization of antibody binding properties				
	2.6	5 Other methods				
3.	Results and discussion					
	3.1	Characterization of soluble antibody fragments (I and III)		54		
		3.1.1	Stability of Fab fragments (I)	54		
		3.1.2	Stability of scFv and Fv fragments (III)	57		
		3.1.3	Binding properties of the antibody fragments (I and III)	60		
	3.2	2 Characterization of scFvs displayed on liposomes (II)				
	3.3	Charac	cterization of scFvs displayed on baculovirus (IV)	64		
		3.3.1	Isolation of scFvs from a phage library	65		
		3.3.2	Binding properties of the scFvs displayed on baculovirus	66		
4.	Conclusions					
Re	ferenc	ces		71		
Ap	pendi	ces				

Appendices of this publication are not included in the PDF version. Please order the printed version to get the complete publication (http://otatrip.hut.fi/vtt/jure/index.html)

# Abbreviations

aa	amino acid
BSA	bovine serum albumin
BV	budded virus
CBHI	cellobiohydrolase I of Trichoderma reesei
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CDR	complementary determining region
CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
C <sub>H</sub> 1	first constant domain of the Ig heavy chain
C <sub>L</sub>	constant domain of the Ig light chain
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Fd	V <sub>H</sub> C <sub>H</sub> 1 fragment
Ig	immunoglobulin
IMAC	immobilized metal affinity chromatography
K <sub>A</sub>	affinity constant
k <sub>ass</sub>	association rate constant
kDa	kilodalton
k <sub>diss</sub>	dissociation rate constant
lpp	the major lipoprotein of Escherichia coli
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
OG	<i>n</i> -octyl-β-D-glucopyranoside
Ox	2-phenyloxazolone
Ox <sub>n</sub> BSA	BSA containing n molecules of Ox
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine
scFv	single-chain antibody
SPR	surface plasmon resonance
V <sub>H</sub>	variable domain of a heavy chain
V <sub>L</sub>	variable domain of a light chain

### 1. Introduction

Vertebrates have different defense mechanisms to protect themselves against infective microorganisms and other foreign substances. Skin and mucous membranes form physiological barriers, while B and T lymphocytes together with antibodies provide a more specific defense mechanism to neutralize or destroy the foreign invaders. Foreign substances that can induce an immune response are called immunogens or antigens. Haptens are molecules which are too small to alone act as immunogens, but which can generate an immune response when coupled to larger macromolecules (carriers). Specific immune responses are divided into two classes, humoral and cell-mediated, depending on the components of the immune system which mediate the response. The humoral response is mediated by B lymphocytes and results in secretion of specific circulating antibodies that eliminate the antigen. In the cell-mediated response T lymphocytes perform helper functions as well as induce and promote destruction of cells infected by various types of viruses or intracellular bacteria.

#### 1.1 Antibody structure

Antibodies or immunoglobulins (Igs) have a common Y-shaped core structure consisting of two identical light (L) chains (about 25 kDa) and two identical heavy (H) chains (50-75 kDa). One L chain is joined to each H chain and the two H chains are joined together by disulfide bonds (Fig. 1). Antibodies are divided into five main classes depending on the structure of the H chain. These classes are IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG and IgM and the corresponding H chains are designed by  $\alpha$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\mu$ , respectively. IgG antibodies can be further divided into four subclasses: IgG1-IgG4 in humans and IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b and IgG3 in mouse. In a complete antibody molecule, each of the H chains is joined either to a kappa ( $\kappa$ ) or a lambda ( $\lambda$ ) L chain. In human serum, antibodies with  $\kappa$  and  $\lambda$ light chains are represented in about equal numbers whereas in mice,  $L_{\kappa}$ containing antibodies are about ten times more frequent than  $L_{\lambda}$ -containing antibodies. IgG and IgE antibodies circulate in the blood as monomers, whereas IgA and IgM are found as dimers and pentamers, respectively. In addition to dimers, IgA antibodies can exist in monomeric form. IgD is rarely secreted and can be found as membrane-bound on the surface of B lymphocytes.

Both the L and H chains consist of several homologous structural polypeptide units, which fold independently forming a globular motif called an immunoglobulin domain (or fold) (Poljak *et al.*, 1973). In both chains the Nterminal domains have the greatest sequence variation between different antibody molecules and are therefore known as the variable (V) domains. These domains form the antigen binding site of the molecule. An intact antibody molecule is thus bivalent, containing two identical antigen binding sites (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Structure of an IgG molecule. The heavy (H) and light (L) chain and the variable (V) and constant (C) domains are shown. The positions of the interchain and intrachain disulfide bonds (-S-S-) and the carbohydrate moieties (CHO) are marked. The proteolytic cleavage sites by papain (1) and pepsin (2) together with the resulting proteolytic fragments  $(Fab')_2$ , Fab and Fc are indicated.

The V regions of the H chain (V<sub>H</sub>) and the L chain (V<sub>L</sub>) contain four relatively conserved sequence stretches called framework regions (FR1–FR4). These structures form a scaffold for three hypervariable loops known as the complementary determing regions (CDR1–CDR3) which contain most of the antigen binding amino acid residues. Sequence and structure analysis of antibody molecules have shown that five of the six hypervariable regions occur in a limited set of main-chain conformations called canonial structures (Chothia and Lesk, 1987). The V domains are joined to more conserved constant (C) domains. There is one C domain in the L chain (C<sub>L</sub>), whereas their number in H chains varies between three and four (C<sub>H</sub>1–C<sub>H</sub>4) depending on the Ig class. Further, the H chains are characteristically glycosylated at asparagine side chains located in most cases at the C<sub>H</sub>2 domain (Fig. 1) (Sutton and Philips, 1983). Some antibody classes (IgM and IgA) are glycosylated at the C<sub>H</sub>1 domain (Davies and Shulman, 1989; Young *et al.*, 1990).

In the H chains there is a nonglobular helical sequence between the  $C_H1$  and  $C_H2$  domains specified as the hinge region. The hinge region varies in length between different antibody classes and it confers further flexibility to the antibody molecule. Proteolytic digestion of an IgG molecule with papain occurs at the hinge region producing two identical monovalent antigen binding Fab fragments (Fig. 1) each consisting of the entire L chain and the  $V_HC_H1$  domains (Fd). Pepsin digests the IgG molecule on the C-terminal site of the disulfide bonds leaving the H chains joined. This enzyme produces thus a bivalent  $F(ab')_2$  fragment (Fig. 1). The rest of the molecule, the Fc fragment, mediates effector functions of the antibody. Glycosylation of the H chain contributes to antibody stability and mediates effector functions such as complement binding and activation (Nose and Wigzell, 1983; Muraoka and Shulman, 1989; Miletic and Frank, 1995).

#### 1.2 Recombinant antibodies

Antibodies can be obtained by immunizing animals with the antigen and collecting the sera which contain a heterogeneous mixture of antibodies. However, nowadays these polyclonal antibodies are in many cases replaced by monoclonal antibodies (Köhler and Milstein, 1975) which have a defined specificity, and can be produced in consistent quality. Although murine

antibodies have been widely used in diagnostic assays and for research purposes, their use in human therapy is limited due to immune responses against murine antibodies frequently observed in patients during clinical trials (Schroff *et al.* 1985; Shawler *et al.* 1985; for a review, see Colcher *et al.*, 1998). Production of human monoclonal antibodies by conventional hybridoma technology has proved to be difficult due to the inefficiency of the fusion process and unstability of the human hybridoma cell lines (James and Bell, 1987). One strategy to circumvent this problem is to produce human antibodies in transgenic mice. In this system endogenous murine Ig genes have been replaced with human Ig genes so that the mice upon immunization with antigen produce human antibodies (Brüggemann *et al.*, 1991; Jakobovits, 1995; Brüggemann and Taussig, 1997).

An alternative approach to decrease the immunogenicity of the murine antibodies is to redesign or engineer the antibodies using recombinant DNA technology. It is possible to create chimeric antibodies which contain mouse V domains joined to human C domains (Boulianne *et al.*, 1984; Morrison *et al.*, 1984). The immunogenicity can be further minimized by grafting the murine V region CDRs in to a human V region framework, resulting in a reshaped (humanized) antibody molecule, most of which is of human origin (Jones *et al.*, 1986; Morrison, 1992; Colcher *et al.*, 1998).

Many applications involving the use of antibodies are based on their specific binding properties, whereas their other biological functions, such as complement activation mediated by the Fc fragment, are not necessary. The globular domain structure of an antibody molecule is convenient for genetic engineering and enables generation of tailor-made antibody fragments for a variety of purposes. One advantage of the new technology is that the size of the antibody molecule can be reduced while retaining the intact antigen binding site of the molecule. Compared with the complete antibody molecule these minimized antibodies have several advantages in clinical applications, including improved tissue penetration, rapid clearance from serum and reduced immunogenicity (Colcher *et al.*, 1998). The small size also facilitates the expression of these functional fragments and their fusions in bacteria (see 1.2.1) as well as allows their display on a filamentous phage (see 1.4.1). Nowadays, human antibody fragments and other antibodies which are difficult to obtain by hybridoma technology can be isolated from phage-based libraries (Marks *et al.* 1991; Griffiths *et al.*, 1993;

Nissim *et al.*, 1994). Further, the small size of the recombinant antibody fragments together with the efficient microbial production systems allow production of a homogenous protein in amounts sufficient also for structural studies (see 1.3.3).

Since the advent of modern gene technology, a wide variety of genetically engineered minimized antibodies have been produced (reviewed in Hudson, 1998, 1999; Little *et al.*, 2000). These include Fab fragments (Better *et al.*, 1988), Fv fragments in which the V domains are held together by non-covalent forces (Skerra and Plückthun, 1988) and so called single-chain antibodies (scFvs) in which the  $V_H$  and  $V_L$  domains are connected either with a short flexible linker peptide (Bird *et al.*, 1988; Huston *et al.*, 1988) or with a disulfide bond (Glockshuber *et al.*, 1990) (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Recombinant antibody fragments. See text for details.

The minimized antibodies can further serve as building blocks for generation of novel recombinant proteins for different purposes. Antibody fragments of the same specificity have been fused to generate bivalent (for reviews, see Plückthun, 1992; Plückthun and Pack, 1997) or multivalent (Plückthun and Pack, 1997; Hudson and Kortt, 1999) antibodies, and two antibody fragments with different specificities have been fused to produce bispecific antibodies (Fig. 2) (Holliger *et al.*, 1993; Mallender and Voss, 1994; Plückthun and Pack, 1997).

Diabodies are dimeric antibody molecules that can be designed for bivalent or bispecific interactions (Holliger *et al.*, 1993). Diabodies or even triabodies are formed spontaneously if an scFv has too short a linker peptide to allow pairing of the V domains within the same polypeptide chain but instead favours pairing between V domains in two adjacent chains (Fig. 2) (Iliades *et al.*, 1997; Atwell *et al.* 1999). Bifunctional antibodies consist of antibody fragments fused to another functional partner, for example an enzyme (Wels *et al.*, 1992; Carrier *et al.*, 1995) or a toxin (Chaudhary *et al.*, 1989; Batra *et al.*, 1992; Reiter and Pastan, 1998). A fusion to a lipoprotein (Fuchs *et al.*, 1991) or introduction of a lipid tag (Laukkanen *et al.*, 1993) converts a soluble antibody fragment into a membrane-bound molecule enabling the antibody fragments to anchor on the bacterial membranes during their production in *E. coli*.

#### 1.2.1 Expression of antibodies in Escherichia coli

At present polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is commonly used to amplify the genes encoding monoclonal antibodies with desired specificity or even to produce the entire antibody gene repertoire of immunized or non-immunized animals for cloning purposes. By cloning the entire Ig V region gene repertoire it is possible to by pass hybridoma technology and the need for immunization and experimentation with animals. Furthermore, the hybridoma cell lines are sometimes unstable and in such cases it is advantageous to immortalize unique antibodies by cloning the corresponding genes.

Recombinant antibodies including Fab, Fv and scFv fragments have been produced as functional proteins in various expression hosts such as bacteria (Better *et al.*, 1988; Bird *et al.*, 1988; Huston *et al.*, 1988; Skerra and Plückthun, 1988), yeast (Horwitz *et al.*, 1988; Edqvist *et al.*, 1991), filamentous fungi (Nyyssönen *et al.*, 1993), insect cells (Bei *et al.*, 1995), plants (Owen *et al.*, 1992) and mammalian cells (Dorai *et al.*, 1994). There are some general rules with regard to the design of vectors and expression systems used with the different hosts and each of these hosts has advantages and disadvantages for the production of functional antibody fragments (reviewed in Verma *et al.*, 1998). However, among the large arsenal of different expression system is most often applied for the production of recombinant antibody fragments. Recent progress

in the understanding of both the genetics and biochemistry of *Escherichia coli* makes this organism a valuable tool as an expression host (reviewed in Baneyx, 1999). An advantage of this production system is that large quantities of homogenous protein preparation can be produced in a simple, rapid and cost-effective manner. Very high yields up to 1-3 g/l of functional antibody have been obtained with careful optimization of fermentation conditions (Carter *et al.*, 1992; Horn *et al.*, 1996). As the antigen binding domains of an antibody molecule are not usually glycosylated except in some rare cases (Sox and Hood, 1970; Wallic *et al.*, 1988), the corresponding antibody fragments assume their natural conformation in bacterial cells and can thus be obtained in their active form.

There are several different strategies to express the recombinant antibody fragments in E. coli (for reviews, see Plückthun and Skerra, 1988; Plückthun, 1991). One possibility is to express antibody chains directly without a signal peptide in the cytoplasm of E. coli (Bird et al., 1988; Buchner and Rudolph, 1991). Overexpression of polypeptides expressed in the reducing environment of bacterial cytoplasm is often accompanied by formation of insoluble aggregates known as inclusion bodies. Therefore, to recover the correctly folded functional form with proper rearrangement of the disulfide bonds the polypeptides must be renaturated in vitro (Huston et al., 1995). Another strategy, which circumvents this problem, is to use a signal peptide to direct secretion of the antibody chains into the periplasmic space (Better et al., 1988; Plückthun and Skerra, 1988; Skerra and Plückthun 1988). The periplasmic space lies between the inner and outer membranes of gram-negative bacteria (Fig. 3), and it is known to contain proteins such as chaperons and disulfide isomerases, which facilitate the correct folding of recombinant proteins (Baneyx, 1999). Production of Fab fragments in E. coli is usually based on the expression of a dicistronic operon unit, in which both the L and Fd gene are under the control of the same promoter. This allows synthesis of approximately the same amounts of both chains. The antibody polypeptides are expressed in the cytoplasm as precursors with N-terminal signal peptides. During translocation through the inner membrane into the oxidizing environment of the periplasm, the signal peptides are cleaved off, the chains fold and assemble, and both the intra- and interdomain disulfide bonds are formed (Fig.3). This secretory pathway of *E. coli* is similar to eukaryotic folding and assembly of proteins in which the polypeptide precursors are transported to the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). The functional and soluble antibodies can be easily purified from the periplasmic fraction of the bacteria (Skerra and Plückthun, 1988; Carter *et al.*, 1992). During prolonged induction, the outer membrane of the bacteria often becomes leaky and the antibody fragments accumulate into the culture medium (Better *et al.*, 1988; Takkinen *et al.*, 1991).



Figure 3. Expression of soluble Fab fragments in Escherichia coli. After induction dicistronic mRNA is synthesized and translated into preproteins in the cytoplasm of E. coli. Secretion of the H and L chains into the periplasm is achieved by the use of signal peptides which are removed during the translocation process across the bacterial inner membrane. The secreted polypeptide chains fold and assemble in the oxidizing environment of the periplasm and the formed Fab fragments leak into the culture medium.

Although periplasmic expression has been successfully used in the production of large variety of specific antibody fragments, the efficiency of folding appears to be dependent on the individual protein and in some cases antibodies are observed as insoluble and non-functional material in the periplasm (Malby *et al.*, 1993; Smallshaw *et al.*, 1999). Recently, thorough studies on factors improving both phage display and periplasmic folding of scFvs have led to the

identification of accessory proteins which decrease aggregation and facilitated folding of the antibody fragments (Bothman and Plückthun, 1998, 2000; Ramm and Plückthun, 2000). By optimizing those parts of an antibody fragment which are not directly involved in antigen binding it is possible to decrease the aggregation of the molecules and thus to improve the yield of a functional protein (Knappik and Plückthun, 1995; Wall and Plückthun, 1999). In the scFv format hydrophobic patches which are normally buried in a hydrophobic V/C domain interface are exposed to the solvent, which may promote aggregation during the folding. Substitution of the hydrophobic residues by hydrophilic ones has been shown to improve the *in vivo* folding properties of the protein (Nieba *et al.*, 1997).

The disulfide bonds of antibodies make a significant contribution to the stability of the structure and are therefore conserved in evolution. In some cases, however, it is possible to replace the disulfide-forming cysteines with other amino acids and still obtain active and correctly folded antibody fragments (Wörn and Plückthun, 1998). Disulfide-free functional antibodies (intrabodies), which can be produced in the reducing environment of the cytoplasm, are of increasing interest because they can be targeted to bind and inactivate cellular components (for reviews, see Richardson and Marasco, 1995; Cattaneo and Biocca, 1999).

#### 1.2.2 Fab fragments

Although functional Fab fragments can be produced proteolytically from the parental antibody, bacterial expression provides a convenient source of large amounts of relatively homogenous protein preparation. Bacterial expression systems have been applied to produce Fab fragments originating from different antibody classes including IgG (Better *et al.*, 1988; Hemminki *et al.*, 1995), IgM (Hay *et al.*, 1992; Adib-Conquy *et al.*, 1995; Jahn *et al.*, 1995) and IgE (Steinberger *et al.*, 1996). In the case of IgM Fab fragments the production levels have been relatively low, most probably due to problems observed in the production of the Fd chains (Abid-Conquy *et al.*, 1995; Jahn, *et al.*, 1995). It has also been reported that the constant domains of the Fd and L chains may have a significant effect on the amount of functional Fab fragments produced in *E. coli* (MacKenzie *et al.*, 1994; Pajunen *et al.*, 1997).

The antigen binding properties of recombinant Fab fragments have been reported to be comparable to (Better *et al.*, 1988; Anand *et al.*, 1991; Hemminki *et al.*, 1998a) or in some cases slightly decreased (Pajunen *et al.*, 1997) compared to the proteolytically produced corresponding Fab fragments. Compared to intact antibody molecules Fab fragments, which lack the Fc portion, may offer potential advantages in therapy trials due to their lower immunogenity and better pharmacokinetic properties (Yokota *et al.*, 1992; Colcher *et al.*, 1998). In addition the use of Fab fragments rather than the complete antibody in diagnostic immunoassays may decrease unwanted interferences sometimes observed in the assays (Kato *et al.*, 1979; Vaidya and Beatty, 1992). Retaining of the C<sub>H</sub>1 and C<sub>L</sub> domains makes it possible to further engineer the fragment without affecting those parts directly involved in the antigen binding. For example, it is possible to introduce appropriate amino acid residues into the constant domains to improve labelling properties of the fragment for sensitive immunoassay applications (Hemminki *et al.*, 1995).

#### 1.2.3 Single-chain antibodies

The smallest functional antibody fragment, which maintains the complete antigen binding site, is the Fv fragment (Fig. 2). This fragment is a non-covalent heterodimer composed of the V<sub>H</sub> and V<sub>L</sub> domains (Skerra and Plückthun, 1988). Active Fv fragments have been produced by proteolytic digestion of the antibody molecule (Hochman et al., 1973). However, the proteolysis often does not result in a homogeneous population of Fv fragments but rather produces a number of partially digested protein molecules, which may hamper both purification and characterization. Therefore, the antibody engineering approach provides a more efficient and generally applicable method to produce Fv fragments. However, usefulness of the Fv fragments is limited by dissociation of the V domains at low protein concentrations and in the absence of antigen (Glockshuber et al., 1990; Jäger and Plückthun, 1999). To stabilize the Fv structure the  $V_H$  and  $V_L$  domains have been linked either chemically (Glockshuber et al., 1990) or by disulfide bonds (Glockshuber et al., 1990; Brinkmann et al., 1993; Reiter et al., 1996). An alternative method is to connect the V domains with a flexible linker peptide so that the antigen binding site is regenerated in a single-chain antibody molecule, scFv (Fig. 2) (Bird et al., 1988; Huston et al., 1988). The order of the domains can be either  $V_{\rm H}$ -linker- $V_{\rm L}$  or  $V_{\rm L}$ -

linker- $V_H$  and both orientations have been applied (reviewed by Huston *et al.*, 1991, 1995).

The length of the linker peptide used to join the V domains is crucial in the folding of the polypeptide chain. It has been estimated that the linker peptide must span at least 3.5 nm (35Å) between the C-terminus of one V domain and the N-terminus of the other V domain without affecting the ability of the domains to fold and form an intact antigen binding site (Huston et al., 1991). A further evaluation based on calculations using computer-generated scFv structures has shown that the distance between the V domains in the  $V_L$ - $V_H$ orientation is always 5-10 Å greater than in the V<sub>H</sub>-V<sub>L</sub> orientation (Huston et al., 1995). Consequently, the use of the same linker may lead to functional differences between the two scFvs molecules with opposite V domain order. The length of the linker most commonly applied varies between 12 and 18 amino acids (for reviews, see Huston et al., 1991, 1995) but also up to 30 residues long linkers have been used (Desplancq et al., 1994; Nieba et al., 1997). Use of very short linker prevents pairing of the  $V_H$  domain to its attached  $V_L$  domain and instead forces pairing with counterpart domains of another molecule to form bivalent dimers (Holliger et al., 1993; Atwell et al., 1996) and higher multimers (Desplancq et al., 1994; Whitlow et al., 1994). Further, the monomeric and dimeric forms are in a concentration-dependent equilibrium; in dilute solutions only monomers are present (Desplancq et al., 1994; Whitlow et al., 1994). Atwell et al. (1999) showed that linkers of three amino acid residues in length are needed to form dimers, whereas a linker with two residues or less induces formation of trimers.

In addition to the length, the amino acid composition of the linker also has a crucial role in the design of a viable linker peptide. The sequence should be hydrophilic to prevent intercalation of the peptide within or between the V domains during protein folding. Nowadays, the most frequently used linkers consist primarily of repeats of glycine (G) and serine (S) residues (GGGGS), in which serine provides hydrophilicity and glycine confers flexibility to the peptide backbone (Huston *et al.*, 1988; Huston *et al.*, 1991). In addition to the linker peptides designed *de novo*, peptide sequences from known proteins have been applied (Bird *et al.*, 1988; Takkinen *et al.*, 1991; Smallshaw *et al.*, 1999). Functional linkers can also be selected from a large population of peptide candidates. Stemmer *et al.* (1993) constructed a single-chain antibody gene

library with randomized linker sequences and could select an scFv showing antigen binding affinity comparable to that of the parental antibody. Recently, phage display library technology combined with random mutagenesis was shown to be a potential method to isolate optimized linker peptides for scFvs (Tang *et al.*, 1996; Turner *et al.*, 1997; Hennecke *et al.*, 1998).

Single-chain antibodies produced in bacteria have often been shown to have antigen binding properties similar to those of the parental monoclonal antibody or the corresponding Fab fragment (Colcher *et al.*, 1990; Takkinen *et al.*, 1991; Smallshaw et al., 1999). It has also been observed that the proteolytic stability of an scFv fragment depends on the linker peptide sequence (Whitlow *et al.*, 1993). Recently, Sieber *et al.* (1998) developed a phage display method, which links the protease resistance of a protein with the infectivity of the filamentous phage. In this strategy a proteolysis step is included in the selection allowing isolation of proteins with improved conformational stability. The stability of scFvs against thermal and pH denaturation has been demonstrated to be slightly reduced compared to that of the parental monoclonal antibody and/or the corresponding Fab fragment (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991; Smallshaw et al., 1999). By using phage display under different selection pressures such as elevated temperatures or in the presence of denaturating compounds it is possible to create single-chain antibodies with improved stability (Jung *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.2.4 Multivalent antibodies

Antibodies are multivalent molecules, which can bind simultaneously to two or more antigen molecules. This multivalent nature of antibodies provides a high degree of functional affinity (avidity) compared to monovalent antibody fragments and improves the performance of antibodies both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. This increase in functional affinity is seen in reduced dissociation rates, which result from multiple binding to two or more target antigen molecules. Recently, small bi- or multivalent antibody fragments have aroused much interest in tumor imaging and therapy (for reviews see, Adams and Schier, 1999; Hudson, 1999; Hudson and Kortt, 1999). The gain in the functional affinity through multivalent binding depends on a number of factors including the density, spatial arrangement and accessibility of the antigen/epitope on the surface (Plückthun and Pack, 1997). In addition, the antigen binding sites of the multivalent fragment should be flexible enough to allow numerous binding or cross-linking geometries at the same time.

There are several possibilities for generation of multivalent antibodies, some of which are presented below (for reviews, see Hudson and Kortt, 1999; Little et al., 2000). The simplest way to produce bivalent antibodies is to utilize the tendency of scFvs to self-associate spontaneously. While relatively stabile noncovalent dimers can be obtained in some cases, this method usually produces a mixture of monomers and dimers and is limited to those scFvs having the capacity to form homodimers spontaneously. The dimerization process can be promoted by connecting the V domains with short linker peptides, which drive the transition from monomers to dimers (diabodies) (Holliger et al., 1993). It has been shown that using linkers of between three and five residues only diabodies are formed, whereas trimers (triabodies) and even tetramers (tetrabodies)(Fig. 4) can be produced with linkers containing less than three amino acids (Iliades et al., 1997; Kortt et al., 1997; Le Gall et al., 1999; Dolezal et al., 2000). These high-avidity antibodies can be produced as functional antigen binding molecules into the bacterial periplasm (Power and Hudson, 2000). The flexibility and orientation of the antigen binding sites in diabodies and triabodies have been confirmed by electron microscopy (Lawrence et al., 1998, Atwell et al., 1999).



Figure 4. Multivalent recombinant antibody fragments. See text for details.

An alternative approach to increase the functional affinity is to fuse scFv genetically with protein dimerizing motifs fragments to produce "miniantibodies" (Fig. 4). For example, a sequence of an amphiphilic helix has been connected via a flexible hinge from mouse IgG3 to the C-terminus of an scFv molecule to produce bivalent scFv fragments (Pack and Plückthun, 1992; Pack et al., 1993). These bivalent miniantibodies were secreted as functional proteins to the periplasmic space of E. coli and produced in large scale using high-cell density fermentation (Pack et al., 1993). Assembly of functional bivalent miniantibodies was also demonstrated for an scFv fused to the human IgG1 C<sub>H</sub>3 domain, which in an intact IgG1 molecule promotes and stabilizes dimerization of the H chains (Hu et al., 1996).

In addition to bivalent antibodies tetravalent miniantibodies (Fig. 4) with higher functional affinity have also attracted increasing interest in cancer therapy (Plückthun and Pack, 1997; Hudson, 1998, 1999). These antibody molecules have been generated by fusing the scFv to either tetramerizing helix (Pack *et al.*, 1995), tetramerization domain of the human transcription factor p53 (Rheinnecker *et al.*, 1996) or to core-streptavidin (Kipriyanov *et al.*, 1996).

#### 1.2.5 Bispecific antibodies

Bispecific antibodies incorporate the binding specificities of two different antibodies into a single molecule and, therefore, they are structurally bivalent but functionally univalent for each antigen-binding specificity (Fig. 2). These molecules have potential applications in cancer therapy and treatment of infectious disease (reviewed in Segal *et al.*, 1999; van Spriel *et al.*, 2000). For example, bispecific antibodies can be designed to bind both to the target cells (tumors or pathogens) and to the effector cells (e.g. T cells, natural killer cells and macrophages) as an approach to utilize cellular immune defense mechanisms to destroy the target cells (Holliger *et al.*, 1996, 1999; Manzke *et al.*, 1999). In addition to therapeutic applications, the dual binding specificity can also be employed in various immunochemical assays, including microtitre plate assays, immunoblotting and immunohistochemistry (Kontermann *et al.*, 1997). One of the binding arms can be designed to bind to the target antigen and the other arm to the marker enzyme or another indicator molecule. This arrangement allows co-incubation of the antibody and the marker molecule and thus simplifies the performance of the assay. As an approach to enhance the binding affinity of the antibody in immunoassays or to improve tumor targeting and retention, bispecific antibodies can also be designed to bind to two non-overlapping epitopes on the same target molecule (Cheong *et al.*, 1990; Robert *et al.*, 1999).

Bispecific antibodies have been produced by fusion of two hybridomas (Milstein and Cuello, 1983) or by chemical crosslinking of two IgGs with different specificities (Karpovsky *et al.*, 1984) or Fab fragments (Cheong *et al.*, 1990; Robert *et al.*, 1999). Recently, a "knobs-into-holes" strategy was introduced to facilitate heterodimerization between two different antibody H chains co-expressed in mammalian cells (Ridgway *et al.*, 1996). In this method knob structures were obtained by replacing at the  $C_H3$  domain small amino acids with larger ones in one chain whereas on the other chain holes were created by replacing large residues with small ones.

Antibody engineering has led to the development of new bispecific antibody formats. Bispecific diabodies are recombinant constructs comprising two scFvs,  $V_HA-L-V_LB$  and  $V_HB-L-V_LA$ , derived from parent antibodies with specificities A and B, where L is a short linker peptide (Holliger *et al.*, 1993; Whitlow *et al.*, 1994; Atwell *et al.*, 1996). Coexpression of these two polypeptides in a same bacterial cell results in their secretion and non-covalent association to form a functional molecule with both binding specificities. Further, it was demonstrated that good yields (up to 935 mg/l) of bispecific diabodies can be obtained by using high cell density fermentation (Zhu *et al.*, 1996). Compared to IgG or antibody fragments in which the two binding sites are rather flexible, the structure of the diabody is more rigid and compact with the antigen binding sites at the opposite ends of the molecule (Perisic *et al.*, 1994).

Alternatively, bispecific antibodies have been constructed by joining "in tandem" two different scFvs together by a polypeptide linker (Fig. 2) (Gruber *et al.*, 1994; Mallender and Voss, 1994; de Jonge *et al.*, 1995). These antibody fragments were secreted as inclusion bodies into the periplasmic space of *E. coli* and could after refolding be obtained as active antigen binding proteins. Müller *et al.* (1998a) constructed bispecific miniantibodies in which the  $C_H1$  domain fused to the C-terminus of an scFv specific for epidermal growth factor receptor while the  $C_L$  (kappa) domain was fused to the C-terminus of a CD2 specific scFv.

Bispecific antibodies, heterodimerized via a disulfide bridge between the C domains, could be produced in *E. coli*. Further, by linking of two different scFvs with a helical dimerizing domain it is possible to produce miniantibodies with two valencies for each specificity (Müller *et al.*, 1998b).

#### 1.2.6 Bifunctional antibodies

Bifunctional antibodies are molecules in which whole antibody molecules or their antigen binding domains have been fused to other functional molecules such as drugs, toxins or enzymes (Fig. 2). For example, recombinant immunotoxins are targeted drugs in which a protein toxin or its effector fragment has been fused to an antibody (reviewed in Kreitman, 1999). Ideally an immunotoxin is capable of killing the target cell efficiently while causing little or no harm to other tissues. Functional recombinant immunotoxins recognizing tumor cells have been expressed in E. coli (Chaudhary et al., 1989, 1990; Chowdhury et al., 1998; Klimka et al., 1999). In these particular cases scFv molecules were fused to bacterial Pseudomonas exotoxin A or its truncated mutant, which inhibits protein synthesis and causes death of the target cell. Goyal and Batra (2000) constructed an immunotoxin by fusing the fungal toxin restrictorin to an scFv specific for human transferrin receptor and linking these molecules with a proteolytically cleavable peptide to enhance the cell-killing activity of the molecule. Immunotoxins in which the V<sub>H</sub>-V<sub>L</sub> heterodimer has been stabilized by disulfide bonds were shown in some cases to be more stable than scFvs (for reviews, see Reiter et al., 1996; Reiter and Pastan, 1998). Innovative improvements to the concept of using specific targeted immunotoxins in therapy include so-called antibody-directed enzyme prodrug therapy. In this strategy an enzyme linked to a tumor-specific antibody is first administered, followed by administration of a non-toxic prodrug (Bhatia et al., 2000). The prodrug is then converted at the tumor site into a cytotoxic drug by the prelocalized enzyme. Antibody fragments can also be armed with radionuclide chelating agents to provide tools for imaging and radioimmunotherapy (Wu and Yazaki, 1999; Wu et al., 2000).

Recombinant antibodies fused to enzymes such as alkaline phosphatase supply a reagent source for different applications including immunohistochemistry (Wels *et al.*, 1992) and different immunoassays (Carrier *et al.*, 1995). For purification

and detection purposes antibody fragments can be fused to the IgG binding domain of *Staphylococcus aureus* protein A (Tai *et al.*, 1990; Gandecha *et al.*, 1992) or the maltose-binding protein of *E. coli* (Brégégère *et al.*, 1994). Further, when an scFv was fused to a cellulose-binding domain (CBD) of a fungal or bacterial cellulase the fusion protein obtained retained its hapten binding activity (Reinikainen *et al.*, 1997). Linkage of an antibody fragment to a CBD allows immobilization to cheap and versatile cellulose matrices, which could be exploited to develop large scale industrial affinity purification schemes (Linder *et al.*, 1998).

#### 1.3 Applications of recombinant antibodies

Since the advent of hybridoma technology the exquisite specificity of monoclonal antibodies has been exploited for a number of applications in diagnostics, medicine and basic research. The development of antibody engineering technology together with the microbial expression systems now available provide tools to design and produce novel and tailored antibodies at affordable prices, even for large-scale applications. Furthermore, purification of antibody fragments can be greatly facilitated by linking tags or peptides to these molecules, which allows production of homogenous, well-defined and active preparations.

#### 1.3.1 Immunodiagnostics

Current immunoassays mainly utilize monoclonal antibodies. In some cases, however, production of monoclonal antibodies with sufficient specificity and affinity by hybridoma technology has not been successful. During recent years, tailor-made recombinant antibody fragments produced in bacteria have become potential alternatives to these "conventional" reagents. Nowadays, antibody fragments for virtually any antigen can be isolated from large naive libraries, thus avoiding the necessity for immunization of animals (Marks *et al.*, 1991; Hoogenboom *et al.*, 1998).

The functionality of recombinant antibodies as immunological reagents has been demonstrated in a number of different assay formats (Kontermann *et al.*, 1997;

Lindner et al., 1997; Emanuel et al., 2000). By using modern antibody engineering it is possible to manipulate and further improve the properties of these antibodies to meet the demands of the assay under consideration. It has been shown that the labelling efficiency of a recombinant Fab fragment by europium (Eu<sup>3+</sup>) chelate derivative often applied in fluoroimmunoassays can be significantly improved by increasing the number of the lysine residues at the surface of the L chain constant domain (Hemminki et al., 1995). Further, Fab fragments have been labelled with biotin by fusing the Fd chain to a 13 amino acid acceptor peptide and performing the site-specific biotinylation enzymatically in vitro with E. coli biotin holoenzyme synthetase (BirA) (Saviranta et al., 1998). In another approach the Fd chain was fused with E. coli biotin carboxy carrier protein and biotinylation was accomplished in vivo by Bir A overexpressed in bacteria (Sibler et al., 1999). In addition to antibody labelling, modern engineering technology also provides excellent tools to improve or refine binding properties of antibodies. Especially it can provide a useful tool in those cases in which conventional methods have not provided antibodies with sufficiently high affinity and specificity. This has been demonstrated for testosterone specific Fab fragment, the specificity and affinity of which were significantly improved by random mutagenesis combined with phage display (Hemminki et al., 1998a and b). In another case a high affinity oestradiol specific scFv with simultaneously decreased cross-reactivity to related steroids could be isolated from a large repertoire of antibody fragments displayed on phage (Pope et al., 1996).

Recently, a sandwich-type enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assay was developed based on scFv fusion proteins for both capture and detection of a plant pathogen (Kerschbaumer *et al.*, 1997). The wells were coated with a miniantibody carrying a dimerizing motif and the antigen was detected by scFv-AFOS fusion. The assay was reported to be more sensitive than a conventional ELISA based on polyclonal antisera, partly due to the good coating properties of the miniantibody. In another study a dual-label time-resolved immunofluorometric assay based on recombinant Fab fragments was set up to measure both free and total prostate-specific antigen (Eriksson *et al.*, 2000). The performance of this assay format was tested with clinical samples and was found to be comparable to a conventional assay based on monoclonal antibodies. Furthermore, a sample which gave a false positive result in the conventional assay probably due to interference caused by the Fc part, was undetectable in the Fab-based assay,

which demonstrates the potential of antibody engineering in establishing new immunoreagents.

#### 1.3.2 Therapy

Mouse monoclonal antibodies, as well as chimerized and humanized derivatives of these, have shown therapeutic potential, and in recent years several of them have been approved for clinical use (reviewed in Glennie and Johnson, 2000). Although good performance has been observed in several cases, especially with humanized molecules, the widespread use of these antibodies as therapeutic agents has been limited by their immunogenicity. Over the past decade, molecular display technologies have been developed which allow generation of fully human antibodies (Marks *et al.*, 1991; Vaughan *et al.*, 1996, 1998). Further, scaling up of the microbial production system provides large amounts of antibody fragments, which can be efficiently purified even for clinical studies requiring particular precautions (Casey *et al.*, 1995).

Small antigen binding molecules such as Fab and scFv fragments offer several advantages over a whole antibody molecule in therapeutic applications (for reviews, see Colcher et al., 1998; Adams and Schier, 1999; Hudson, 1999). Due to their reduced size these molecules penetrate more rapidly and evenly into tumors and other tissues compared to the whole antibodies (Yokota et al., 1992; Colcher et al., 1998). Since the antibody fragments have more rapid clearance from the blood, drugs and radionuclides can be coupled with reduced risk of toxic effects in normal tissues (Colcher et al., 1990; Wu and Yasaki, 1999). Comparison of mutant scFvs with different affinities has shown that increased affinity significantly improves tumor targeting and leads to longer retention of the fragment in tumors (Neri et al., 1997; Adams et al., 1998; Viti et al., 1999). On the other hand, extremely high-affinity antibodies designed to target solid tumors may be bound in an irreversible manner to the first target antigen encountered, which may hamper further penetration of the antibodies into the tumor tissue (Adams and Schier, 1999). One limitation of using the scFv and Fab formats for targeting *in vivo* is their monovalent binding to antigen. The efficiency of tumor targeting can be improved by using multivalent antibody fragments (Adams et al., 1993; Neri et al., 1997; Colcher et al., 1998; Viti et al., 1999).

Hitherto, therapeutic trials of bispecific antibodies composed of whole antibody molecules have been limited owing to their toxicity observed in initial trials as well as to the high cost of producing these molecules for clinical evaluation (reviewed in Segal *et al.*, 1999; van Spriel *et al.*, 2000). Recently small bispecific antibodies produced in bacteria have been shown to be functional immunotherapeutic agents for tumor treatment *in vivo* (de Jonge *et al.*, 1998; Cochlovius *et al.*, 2000) and may thus allow to overcome these problems in the future. Several different recombinant immunotoxins have also been produced and shown to be potent antitumor agents producing tumor regressions (Kreitman *et al.*, 1994; Siegall, *et al.* 1994; Chowdhury *et al.*, 1998). Although some recombinant immunotoxins are currently in clinical trials (Reiter and Pastan, 1998; Kreitman, 1999), there are still challenges to be met, including reduction of immunogenicity and toxicity of these molecules (Kreitman, 1999).

#### 1.3.3 Structure analysis

Antibodies are large flexible glycoproteins, which can exist in a range of different conformations due to the intrinsic mobility of the individual domains. This causes difficulties to obtain high quality crystals for structure analysis and only a few crystal structures of intact antibodies have been solved (Harris et al., 1997, 1998). Reduction of antibody size by omitting the Fc part and the flexible hinge region increases the probability of obtaining crystals showing high resolution diffraction. Further, the smaller size of the antibody fragments makes it possible to crystallize them when complexed with antigens, and the detailed three dimensional structure obtained can be used to identify amino acid residues important for binding. A number of antibody fragments have been crystallized and structures determined with and/or without antigen, including Fab fragments (Whitlow et al., 1995), scFvs (Malby et al., 1993, 1998; Zdanow et al., 1994) and Fv fragments (Bhat et al., 1994; Fields et al., 1996). The crystal structure obtained for one diabody revealed that the molecule had a rigid structure with the antigen binding sites at opposite ends of the molecule (Perisic *et al.*, 1994). Further, the distance between the antigen binding sites was measured to be  $65\text{\AA}$ , which is less than half the estimated distance in an IgG molecule. Determination of the crystal structure of a triabody revealed that in this trimeric antibody the three antigen binding sites were arranged in a cyclic head-to-tail manner (Pei et al., 1997). In addition to X-ray crystallography, NMR spectroscopy has also

been used in structural studies of antibodies (McManus and Riechmann, 1991; Freund *et al.*, 1993).

A novel approach in determination of the crystal structures of membrane proteins is to use small antibody fragments in the co-crystallization of these macromolecules. Membrane proteins and their complexes are poorly soluble in aqueous environment and need detergents for solubilization. Most of the crystal lattice contacts are made by the polar extramembranous parts of the membrane protein. Binding of an antibody fragment to a membrane protein increases the polar area and thus increases the possibility to obtain well-ordered crystals for structure determination (Ostermeier *et al.*, 1995). Fv fragment-mediated crystallization has successfully been applied for X-ray analysis of bacterial cytochrome c oxidase, which is a multisubunit complex (Iwata *et al.*, 1995; Ostermeier *et al.*, 1995, 1997). The cytochrome c oxidase complex was purified to homogeneity in one step procedure on an Fv fragment-based column and eluted directly as an Fv-cytochrome complex (Kleymann *et al.*, 1995). Recently, the cytochrome bc<sub>1</sub> complex from the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was crystallized together with an Fv fragment (Hunte *et al.*, 2000).

### 1.4 Display technology

During recent years a number of different display technologies have been developed for enriching molecular diversity and producing novel types of proteins (for a review, see Li, 2000). Antibodies have been expressed on the surface of different microorganisms including bacteriophages (bacterial viruses), viruses, bacteria and yeast. All these systems share the principle of a linkage between genotype (the Ig genes) and phenotype (antigen-binding). This linkage allows isolation of a protein with desired binding properties from a large pool of non-binding antibodies, while the genetic material remains within the microorganism and is thus available for isolation and further engineering. In the future, recombinant antibodies and large antibody libraries containing binders virtually to any target antigen may become important tools in functional genomic and proteomic research (Borrebaeck, 1998; Holt *et al.*, 2000).

#### 1.4.1 Phage display

About fifteen years ago Smith (1985) first demonstrated that foreign DNA fragments can be fused to the gene III coding for pIII coat protein of a non-lytic filamentous phage and expressed as a fusion protein on the virion surface without destroying the infectivity of the phage. Thereafter McCafferty *et al.* (1990) demonstrated that an scFv fragment can be displayed as an active antigen binding domain on the surface of filamentous phage and that rare clones can be isolated from a large population by using antigen to select and screen the phage. Since these first applications, the technology has been extended to other antibody molecules including Fab fragments (Barbas *et al.*, 1991; Hoogenboom *et al.*, 1991; Kang *et al.*, 1991), disulfide-stabilized Fv fragments (Brinkmann *et al.*, 1995) and diabodies (McGuinness *et al.*, 1996).

Antibody libraries are constructed by cloning PCR amplified antibody gene repertoires into a phage or phagemid vector, which allows display of the antibodies on the phage particle (for reviews, see Hoogenboom et al., 1992; Winter et al., 1994). The Ig gene repertoire can be cloned from stimulated B cells (high levels of mRNA) after immunization (Clackson et al., 1991; Persson et al., 1991) or viral infection (Burton et al., 1991). This approach results in higher frequency of binders specific for the antigen, and due to the in vivo affinity maturation of the antibodies the isolated binders usually have high affinities. Alternatively, antibody gene repertoires can be isolated from nonimmunized individuals by PCR amplification of the heavy chain genes from IgM and the light chain genes from  $\kappa$  and  $\lambda$  cDNA (Marks *et al.*, 1991). The IgM V<sub>H</sub> repertoire is generally more diverse than the IgG V<sub>H</sub> repertoire because it represents the entire B cell population, which has not undergone selection and amplification by the antigen. Basically, these non-immunized or "naive" antibody libraries can be repeatedly used for selection of antibodies with new specificities without the need to construct a new library for each antigen. The affinities of antibodies derived from such naive repertoires containing  $10^7 - 10^8$ individual clones are in the micromolar range (Marks et al., 1991; Griffiths et al., 1993). However, by constructing very large non-immunized libraries of about 10<sup>10</sup> individual clones, antibodies with subnanomolar affinities have been isolated (Vaughan et al., 1996; Sheets et al., 1998; de Haard et al., 1999). A third approach is to use synthetically assembled variable regions to construct
synthetic antibody gene libraries, which provides high structural diversity (Barbas *et al.*, 1992; Hoogenboom and Winter, 1992; Griffiths *et al.*, 1994).

To express antibody fragments on the surface of filamentous bacteriophage the Ig genes can be fused either to the VIII gene (Kang *et al.*, 1991) or the III gene (McCafferty *et al.*, 1990) (Fig. 5). The major coat protein pVIII is present with



Figure 5. Schematic figure showing the display of Fab fragments as pIII and pVIII fusions on the surface of bacteriophage.

about 2700 copies on the phage particle and fusion to antibody results in multivalent display of the fragment. The minor coat protein pIII is present with between three and five copies at one tip of the phage and is needed for bacterial infectivity. By far the most extensively used display format is based on the use of phagemid vector and the pIII display, which allows high frequency of monovalent display and thus is preferred in selection for affinity (reviewed in Hoogenboom *et al.*, 1998; Hoogenboom and Chames, 2000).

Selection of an antibody from the phage display library includes sequential enrichment of specific binding phage from a huge number of nonspecific phage particles. This is achieved by multiple rounds of phage binding to the antigen, washing to remove nonspecific phage and elution to rescue the specifically binding phages. After each round the eluted phages are amplified by infection of E.coli for the next round of selection. After the last round of the selection procedure, soluble antibodies are produced in bacteria and characterized. There are several different selection strategies that can be used to obtain specific antibodies (for reviews, see Hoogenboom et al., 1998; Hoogenboom and Chames et al., 2000). For most applications selection can be performed simply by incubating phage on antigen immobilized onto a solid support, such as immunotubes (Marks et al., 1991; Griffiths et al., 1993), microtitre plate wells (Burton et al., 1991; Hemminki et al., 1998 a and b), BIAcore sensor chips (Malmborg et al., 1996; Schier and Marks, 1996) or columns (McCafferty et al., 1990; Marks et al., 1991). Alternatively, the phage library can be incubated with the biotinylated antigen in solution, followed by capture of the antigen-phage complex on streptavidin surface (Hawkins et al., 1992; Griffiths et al., 1994). This approach can be used to select antibodies on the basis of affinity by using an antigen concentration significantly less than the desired dissociation constant Kd (Hawkins et al., 1992; Schier et al., 1996a; Hemminki et al., 1998b). Further, by choosing an appropriate design of the selection procedure, antibodies can also be selected on the basis of kinetic properties (Hawkins et al., 1992; Duenas et al., 1996), improved specificity (Hemminki et al., 1998b) or phage infectivity (Krebber et al., 1995; Hennecke et al., 1998). In cases in which pure antigen is not available (e.g. integral membrane protein) or the antigen is unknown (e.g. when searching for new markers on cells or tissues), specific antibodies must be isolated using more complex sources, such as whole cells (Marks et al., 1993; de Kruif et al., 1995; Klimka et al., 1999) or tissue fragments (van Ewijk et al., 1997).

The binding characteristics of antibodies isolated from phage libraries are often sufficient for their use in research applications, such as ELISA, Western blotting or immunofluorescence (Nissim et al., 1994; Lindner et al., 1997). However, the affinity or specificity of antibodies selected from the libraries may not be high enough for diagnostic or therapeutic applications and thus further improvement is required. The affinities of antibody fragments can be improved by targeting mutagenesis to one or more of the CDRs or only a part of them followed by selection of high affinity antibodies (Hawkins et al., 1992; Schier et al., 1996b; Thompson et al., 1996; Hemminki et al., 1998b; Chowdhury and Pastan, 1999). Further, mutagenesis of the CDRs and careful design of the selection methods have been used as a successful approach to increase the specificity of antibodies (Hemminki et al., 1998a). In addition to mutagenesis, pairing of a particular heavy chain with a library of light chains ("chain-shuffling"), or vice versa, has been used to increase the affinity of antibodies (Marks et al., 1992; Pope et al., 1996; Schier et al., 1996a). The binding affinities achieved in vitro have been in the nanomolar or picomolar range.

Phage display technology has revolutionized the way in which we can generate new specific antibodies without immunization, and thus enables production of antibodies which have been difficult or impossible to obtain by conventional methods based on immunization, such as human antibodies and antibodies against self-antigens (Griffiths *et al.*, 1993; Vaughan *et al.*, 1996; Hoogenboom and Chames, 2000). In addition to selection for binding properties, phage display system can be applied to isolate stable and well-folded proteins, catalysts or polypeptide substrates (reviewed in Forrer *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.4.2 Baculovirus display

Although phage display systems have provided tools to generate specific tailormade antibodies for several purposes, the technology has limitations imposed by the expression host. Phages are prokaryote viruses, and proteins intended for display must be suitable for secretion from a prokaryotic host such as *E. coli* and must not be dependent on eukaryotic post-translational modifications or folding requirements. Therefore, for such proteins a eukaryotic viral system capable of displaying complex eukaryotic proteins would be useful. Recombinant baculoviruses are nowadays widely used for high-level expression of heterologous genes providing a eukaryotic processing environment. In addition, baculoviruses have proved to be powerful tools to investigate viral assembly processes and may provide a valuable approach in the development of new vaccines and gene deliver vehicles (for reviews, see Possee, 1997; Verma *et al.*, 1998; Kost and Condreay, 1999).

Baculoviruses are a large family of double-stranded DNA viruses that infect only invertebrates, usually insects. During their infection cycle baculoviruses produce two structurally and functionally distinct virion phenotypes (Blissard and Rohrmann, 1990). One form is budded virus (BV), which is produced by budding from the surfaces of infected cells. The BV virions transmit cell-to-cell infection within the animal, and are highly infectious for tissues of the host and for cultured insect cells. The other phenotype, occlusion derived virus (ODV), is found within protective occlusion bodies in the host cell nucleus and is able to transmit infection from host to host by the oral route. Although the two different virus phenotypes (BV and ODV) share some common structural components, there are some components that are specific for each phenotype (reviewed in Rohrmann, 1992). One of these is the structural transmembrane protein gp64, which is the major envelope glycoprotein of the BV form and is used as a fusion partner to express proteins on the viral surface. The BV gp64 protein has been shown to be essential for the infectivity and it mediates the membrane fusion in a pH-dependent manner (Blissard and Wenz, 1992; Monsma et al., 1996). It is abundantly expressed on the plasma membrane of infected cells and is present on the virions as homo-trimers (Oomens et al., 1995). The gp64 protein is incorporated into newly formed BVs when nucleocapsids containing the viral DNA bud through the host plasma membrane. gp64 has two functional domains, the oligomerization domain and the fusion domain (Monsma and Blissard, 1995). The oligomerization domain within an amphipathic helix was thought to be responsible for oligomerization (or trimerization) and transport of the molecule (Fig. 6). The fusion domain containing a cluster of hydrophobic amino acids was suggested to be involved in the fusion of the virus into the plasma membrane.



Figure 6. A schematic presentation of the predicted structure of AcNPV gp64 protein containing the signal peptide (SP), fusion domain (FD), oligomerization domain (OD), transmembrane domain (TM) and cytoplasmic tail domain (CTD).  $\psi$  denotes predicted N-linked glycosylation sites (modified from Monsma and Blissard, 1995; Oomens and Blissard, 1999).

Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus (AcNPV) has been used as an alternative for protein display in a eukaryotic system. Boublik et al. (1995) were the first to show that foreign proteins, glutatione-S-transferase and gp120 (the HIV major surface glycoprotein), could be fused to gp64 and displayed on the surface of a baculovirus particle. Further, they localized the position where insertions would be tolerated and demonstrated that a foreign sequence cloned in frame between the signal peptide and the sequence encoding the intact gp64 protein resulted in expression of a stable and functional protein on the virion surface. The same approach was taken by Mottershead et al. (1997), who demonstrated expression of green fluorescent protein and two rubella virus envelope proteins, E1 and E2, on the baculovirus surface. Grabherr et al. (1997) fused ectodomain of the glycosylated HIV-1 envelope protein gp41 both to the entire gp64 and its membrane anchor domain and found increased surface expression level of the foreign protein with the truncated gp64 fusion. A recent study by Ernst et al. (1998) demonstrated the applicability of baculovirus display technology for the construction and screening of eukaryotic expression libraries. They inserted derivatives of the HIV-1 gp41 epitope "ELDKWA" binding to a neutralizing human antibody into the antigenic site B of influenza virus hemagglutinin expressed on the surface of baculovirus-infected cells. By using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) to screen the cells with a specific neutralizing antibody they were able to isolate a baculovirus clone with increased antibody binding activity. As an approach to modify the native gp64 protein without disturbing viral infectivity, short peptide coding sequences were inserted into the gp64 coding sequence utilizing a naturally occurring restriction enzyme site (Ernst *et al.*, 2000). Expression of these peptides as part of the gp64 envelope protein resulted in production of viable recombinant virus particles showing titers comparable to that of the wild-type virus. This approach allowed insertion of the peptide to every single copy of the gp64 protein resulting in high avidity display of the molecule. Lindley *et al.* (2000) fused the human nuclear receptors LXR $\beta$  and FXR to the N-terminus of the gp64 protein and used the baculovirus virions displaying the receptor proteins as immunogens to produce monoclonal antibodies. This strategy provided a novel alternative means to generate antibodies without the need for purification of the immunogen.

In addition to AcNPV, other viruses have also been investigated as a basis for a viral eukaryotic display system, including sindbis virus (London *et al.*, 1992), poliovirus (Rose *et al.*, 1994) and hepatitis B virus (Kratz *et al.*, 1999). In addition, retroviruses have been employed for functional display of single-chain antibodies on the surface of virions, which may allow more specific targeting of viral vectors for therapeutic purposes (Russell *et al.*, 1993; Konishi *et al.*, 1998).

#### 1.4.3 Other display systems

Display of heterologous proteins on the surface of cells provides an alternative or complement to phage- or virus-based systems. A number of different proteins have been expressed on the surface of both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria or yeast by fusing the molecules to membrane proteins or cell wall components (for reviews, see Schreuder et al., 1996; Georgiou et al., 1997; Ståhl and Uhlén, 1997). These nonviral microorganisms displaying foreign sequences have several potential applications including presentation and screening of polypeptide libraries or they might be used as whole-cell vaccines, biocatalysts or cell-based reagents for diagnostic purposes (Schreuder et al., 1996; Georgiou et al., 1997; Ståhl and Uhlén, 1997). Libraries propagated in the cells are limited in size and in some cases factors such as steric interference with the native surface molecules, susceptibility to surface proteases or conformational constraints caused by the fusion to the carrier protein may affect the viability of the surface displayed proteins (Georgiou et al., 1997). On the other hand screening or sorting of the cell surface libraries by flow cytometry and FACS are powerful methods to enrich effectively positive clones (Francisco et al., 1993; Georgiou et al., 1997, Kieke et al., 1997). Fully functional antibody fragments have been displayed on *E. coli* surface (Fuchs *et al.*, 1991; Francisco *et al.*, 1993) and, recently, antibodies with improved affinity were isolated by using affinity selection from mutant libraries displayed on bacterial surface (Daugherty *et al.*, 1998, 1999) or yeast (Boder and Wittrup, 1997; Kieke *et al.*, 1997).

Hanes and Plückthun (1997) applied an approach termed ribosome display for cell-free selection of antibody fragments from libraries. In this system large libraries ( $\geq 10^{12}$  clones, Hanes *et al.*, 1998) with virtually unlimited diversity can be constructed and the particular proteins are translated, displayed and selected completely *in vitro* on the ribosomes. Recently, the ribosome display technology was used to isolate antibodies with affinities in picomolar range (Hanes *et al.*, 2000). Because the selection of proteins in the ribosome display system is performed *in vitro*, many drawbacks of the *in vivo* systems can be circumvented, which may render this approach important in the future (reviewed in Schaffitzel *et al.*, 1999).

## 1.5 Immunoliposomes

Liposomes are artificial spherical vesicles which consist of a phospholipid bilayer surrounding an inner aqueous cavity. They have found increasing interest in different biomedical and biotechnical applications such as drug delivery, gene therapy and immunodiagnostics. Liposomes can be further equipped with targetspecific ligands including receptors, antigens or antibodies (immunoliposomes), which act as homing or anchoring probes. Furthermore during or after the preparation of immunoliposomes it is possible to entrap almost any watersoluble molecule (drugs, DNA, enzymes, fluorophores, dyes etc.) within the internal cavity (Fig. 7).



Immunoliposome

*Figure 7. Schematic presentation of a marker or a drug molecule encapsulated in an immunoliposome.* 

#### 1.5.1 Preparation

Liposomes form spontaneously when phospholipids are dispersed into water. In the lipid bilayer the hydrophilic polar heads of the phospholipids are exposed to the outer and inner aqueous environment, whereas the non-polar hydrocarbon tails are buried in the hydrophobic interior of the membrane layer (Fig. 7). The size of the liposomes varies, and the diameter can be between 25 nm and several micrometers. There are several well-established methods available for preparation of liposomes, which differ from each other in the way in which the membrane components are dispersed in aqueous media (New, 1992).

Gregoriadis and Neerunjun (1975) were the first to describe specific targeting and cellular uptake of drug-loaded liposomes coated by nonspecific adsorption with rabbit polyclonal IgGs recognizing different types of cells both *in vitro* and in vivo. Since their work a number of methods have been developed to couple antibodies to liposomes. These methods include covalent coupling of the antibody via thiol or amino groups to membrane lipids (Leserman et al., 1980; Heath et al., 1981), or non-covalent methods applying the avidin (streptavidin)biotin interaction (Loughrey et al., 1987; Urdal and Hakomori, 1980). In addition to intact antibodies Fab' fragments have been covalently linked to lipid derivatives via the free thiol group in the Fd chain, which leaves the antigenbinding domains intact unlike in the other more random coupling methods (Martin et al., 1981; Shahinian and Silvius, 1995). Recently, a novel method was reported in which the DNA encoding the signal peptide and the aminoterminal part of the major lipoprotein of E. coli (lpp) was fused to the DNA encoding an scFv (Laukkanen et al., 1993; de Kruif et al., 1996). Expression of this fusion construct in bacteria led to *in vivo* fatty acylation of the scFv. These lipid-tagged scFvs produced in bacteria have been incorporated into lipid membranes to construct functional liposomes (Laukkanen et al., 1995; de Kruif et al., 1996; Kobatake et al., 1997). This approach avoids inactivation and low coupling efficiency often encountered with chemical modification and provides a whole arsenal of antibody engineering techniques, which enables preparation of tailormade immunoliposomes for different application.

#### 1.5.2 Applications

The successful use of liposomes for drug delivery *in vivo* requires a combination of prolonged presence in the circulation, specific targeting and efficient delivery of the liposomal content into the target cells. Although immunoliposomes are effective in specific binding to target cells *in vitro*, their utility for *in vivo* purposes has been limited by their rapid uptake by the reticuloendothelial system (RES) (reviewed in Gregoriadis, 1995). In earlier studies it was shown that by the coating liposome surface with ganglioside  $G_{M1}$  or with amphipathic poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) the circulation half-life of liposomes was

significantly increased (Allen et al., 1989). These liposomes are less susceptible to uptake by RES, resulting in prolonged circulation time in the blood and enhanced tumor accumulation, and are referred to as "sterically stabilized" or "stealth" liposomes. Although the presence of PEG prolongs circulation time, binding of the antibody to the target cell may be reduced due to the steric hindrance caused by long PEG chains (Maryama et al., 1995). Coupling methods developed recently allow linkage of antibodies e.g. via thioether linkage to the terminus of a PEG chain to expose the antibody on the liposome surface (Allen et al., 1995). These sterically stabilized liposomes show more efficient target binding compared to those PEG-stabilized liposomes in which antibodies are coupled directly to membrane lipids. Recently, Ishida et al. (1999) showed a combinatorial approach to prepare a variety of immunoliposomal drugs. They prepared IgG-PEG-lipid micelles, which can be transferred into preformed drug-loaded liposomes in a one-step incubation. Ultimately, this combinatorial method might be applied to prepare drugs tailored for individual patient needs by selecting a defined antibody from a pool of antibodies and mixing it with an appropriate formulation of drug-containing liposomes.

There are several recent *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies in which immunoliposomes have been demonstrated to bind specifically to their targets and internalize into the cells for delivery of the encapsulated drugs (Park *et al.*, 1995; de Menezes *et al.*, 1998; Tseng *et al.*, 1999). In addition to the targeted delivery of drugs, immunoliposomes may enable other biomedical applications, such as gene therapy. Liposomes intended for gene therapy may have different lipid compositions, but typically have synthetic cationic lipids on their surface. These cationic liposomes form complexes with negatively charged DNA via electrostatic interactions and can mediate gene transfer into different cells (Crystal, 1995; Park *et al.*, 1997). Recently, Shi and Pardridge (2000) constructed neutral sterically stabilized immunoliposomes loaded with  $\beta$ galactosidase or luciferase expression plasmid and carrying on their surface monoclonal antibodies specific for transferrin receptor (TfR). These liposomes were able to undergo endogenous TfR-mediated transport through the bloodbrain barrier and expression of the exogenous genes in the brain was observed.

The use of liposomes as analytical reagents in immunoassays is usually based either on detection of the lysis of liposomes followed by release of the encapsulated marker molecules (for reviews, see Monroe, 1990; Rongen *et al.*,

1997) or on the detection of liposome-enhanced agglutination (Monroe, 1990). Liposome-based immunoassays closely resemble the formats used in standard immunoassays including homogeneous assays and competitive and noncompetitive heterogeneous formats. The encapsulated marker molecules (e.g. fluorophors, chromophors or enzymes) serve as either indicators or amplifiers of the specific immune reaction measured in the assay. Therefore it is of outmost importance that the liposomes are stable and the leakage of the marker is kept at minimum. Furthermore, for analytical purposes both the detection sensitivity and a high signal-to-noise ratio are of crucial importance. For the signal measurement, the lysis of antibody-associated liposomes can be accomplished by adding detergent, complement, cytotoxin or certain divalent cations. Immunoliposomes with an encapsulated fluorescent label (Kobatake et al., 1997) or a lanthanide chelate (Laukkanen et al., 1995) have been demostrated to be potential multivalent immunoreagents providing both high specificity and sensitivity. Park and Durst (2000) developed a rapid field-portable colorimetric sandwich immunoassay for detection of a food pathogen, E. coli O157:H7. In this method a nitrocellulose strip with a zone of an immobilized pathogenspecific antibody is inserted into a test tube containing a mixture of the test sample and dye-loaded immunoliposomes carrying the specific antibody on their surface. Due to capillary migration the pathogen-immunoliposome complex reaches the antibody zone and the color density of the zone is directly proportional to the amount of E. coli O157:H7 present in the sample.

## 1.6 Real-time biospecific interaction analysis

In some cases the method chosen to characterize the binding properties of antibodies is straightforward and depends directly on the intended application. For example, the functionality of recombinant antibodies developed for reagents in immunoassays should be evaluated in the relevant assay format (Kontermann et al., 1997; Eriksson *et al.*, 2000). Otherwise, several methods are available to study antigen-antibody interactions. Immunoassays, mainly ELISA, have often been employed as a first step in characterization of binding of the engineered antibodies and is currently the most common way to screen antibody phage libraries either by measuring binding of phages or/and the soluble antibodies (Marks *et al.*, 1991). Beyond screening for positive and negative clones, ELISA may provide information on the relative binding activities of different antibodies

(Anand *et al.*, 1991). Friquet *et al.* (1985) introduced an ELISA method allowing determination of the dissociation constant ( $K_D$ ) of antigen-antibody equilibrium in solution, which has subsequently been applied to determine affinities of recombinant antibody fragments (Adib-Conquy *et al.*, 1995; Thompson *et al.*, 1996). Other methods employed to determine the affinity constant of engineered antibodies include fluorescence quenching (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991; Nieba *et al.*, 1997) and equilibrium dialysis (Pope *et al.*, 1996). At present, however, increasing numbers of binding studies on recombinant antibody fragments rely on the use of surface plasmon resonance (SPR)-based biosensors, which enable a more detailed kinetic analysis.

SPR detectors are biosensors, which measure refractive index changes in solution close to the surface of a sensor. One of the interacting partners is immobilized on the sensor surface while the other component is introduced on the surface in solution. These instruments are capable of measuring the binding reactions in real time without the need for labelling any of the interacting partners. The first commercial SPR biosensor, BIAcore<sup>®</sup> (BIAcore AB, Uppsala, Sweden), was introduced in 1990 and thereafter five other SPR instruments have been been launched (for a review, see Rich and Myszka, 2000). The BIAcore biosensor can be used to characterize different properties of interacting biomolecules including specificity, concentration, affinity, kinetics and epitope specificity. A number of molecular interactions such as protein-protein, peptideprotein, DNA-protein, DNA-DNA, sugar-protein and ligand-protein interactions, can been studied by using this technology (Nagata and Handa, 2000). Recent developments in instrumentation, experimental design and software have significantly improved the performance of the technology (for reviews, see Malmqvist, 1999; Rich and Myszka, 2000). High sensitivity and reproducibility now make this technology suitable for characterization of combinatorial libraries as well as for secondary screening of small drug leads in the pharmaceutical industry (reviewed in Myszka and Rich, 2000). Furthermore, integration of the biospecific interaction analysis by BIAcore with mass spectrometry makes it possible to characterize and identify binding partners from crude samples, which may be an applicable approach for example in proteomics (Nelson et al., 1999; Williams and Addona, 2000).

The SPR technology as employed in the BIAcore instrumentation offers a number of different assay formats which can be chosen on the basis of the

information desired. It is possible to visualize the progress of antigen-antibody binding on a computer screen as a function of time and the strength of the binding can be expressed not only in terms of equilibrium affinity constants ( $K_a$ ) or  $K_d$ ) but also in terms of association ( $k_{ass}$  or  $k_{on}$ ) and dissociation ( $k_{diss}$  or  $k_{off}$ ) rate constants. There are, however, several different factors that can influence the results and careful optimization of the experimental conditions is necessary to obtain reliable data (reviewed in Myszka, 1997). These factors include diffusion of the molecule in solution to and away from the sensor surface as well as rebinding to the immobilized molecule. This diffusion step can introduce a phenomenon called mass transport limitation, which results in kass and kdiss values that reflect diffusion rates of the molecule on and off the surface rather that the true rate constants (Glaser, 1993). High flow rates and low surface capacity are recommended means to avoid these problems (Myszka, 1997). Rebinding to the molecule immobilized on the sensor surface may have a remarkable effect on the affinity constants determined from the kass and kdiss constants compared to the affinities determined in solution, as demonstrated by Nieba et al. (1996). To eliminate the effects of rebinding they introduced a competition BIAcore method, which measures equilibrium binding in solution. This method is based on preincubation of the antibody with different concentrations of the antigen in solution followed by determination of the amount of the unbound antibody by BIAcore (Nieba et al., 1996; Hanes et al., 1998).

The BIAcore instrumentation has been employed to determine affinities and binding kinetics for recombinant antibody fragments derived from monoclonal antibodies (Hemminki *et al.*, 1995; Wu *et al.*, 1996) or isolated from phage display (Sheets *et al.*, 1998; Chowdhury and Pastan, 1999), ribosome display (Hanes *et al.*, 1998) and cell display libraries (Daugherty *et al.*, 1998). Further, it has been used in studies of multivalent antibodies (MacKenzie and To, 1998) and in characterization of epitope specificies of antibodies (Mao *et al.*, 1999; Viti *et al.*, 1999). The biosensor also provides a means to confirm the capability of bispecific antibodies to bind to two different antigens simultaneously (Müller *et al.*, 1998b; Robert *et al.*, 1999). The versatility of this SPR technology in antibody engineering was recently demonstrated by de Haard *et al.* (1999) who, when isolating Fab fragments from a phage library, used BIAcore to screen the binding of phages during the selection steps, to screen the isolated soluble fragments produced in periplasmic fraction on the basis of off-rates and to

confirm their binding specificities. Further, they also used BIAcore to determine the concentration of Fab fragments present in the bacterial periplasm and to calculate the kinetic constants. The principle of BIAcore analysis and applications in antibody engineering are discussed more extensively in paper V.

## 1.7 Aims of the present study

The general aim of this work was to establish methods for the production and characterization of recombinant antibody fragments. In this technical approach the specific objectives were:

- 1. To study the influence of the heavy chain constant domain of a mouse Fab fragment on functional expression in *E. coli*.
- 2. To investigate the effect of the linker length and amino acid composition on the expression of soluble, active single-chain antibodies in *E. coli*.
- 3. To characterize binding properties of membrane-anchored, surfacedisplayed recombinant antibody fragments as a model for diagnostic applications.
- 4. To investigate functional antibody display on the surface of baculovirus as a model for a eukaryotic display system.

# 2. Materials and methods

All materials and methods used in this study are described in detail in papers I-IV and only a brief summary is given below.

## 2.1 The antibody expression constructions

To produce the soluble 2-phenyloxazolone (Ox) binding Fab, scFv and Fv fragments in *E. coli* (papers I, III) the corresponding expression units (Figure 8a) were cloned into the pKKtac vector (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991), which consists of the *tac* promoter (*ptac*), the transcription terminator region (TT), *lac* repressor (*lacI*<sup>q</sup>) from pMJR 1560 plasmid (Amersham) and the signal sequence coding region of pectate lyase (*PelB*) of *Erwinia carotovora* (Lei *et al.*, 1987). For production of the membrane-anchored Ox scFv hexahistidyl tail fusion (Ox lpp-scFv-H6) (paper II), the signal sequence of the major lipoprotein (*lpp*) of *E. coli* and the nine N-terminal amino acids of the lpp were cloned into the pKKtac expression vector as described earlier (Laukkanen *et al.*, 1993).

For baculovirus surface expression (paper IV) the antibody fragments were cloned under the polyhedrin promoter (*ppolh*) into the pFLAGgp64 vector, which contained the signal sequence of the GLUR-D glutamate receptor, the FLAG epitope and the gp64 gene (Kuusinen *et al.*, 1995; Mottershead *et al.*, 1997)(Figure 8b).



Figure 8. The expression units in (a) the pKKtac vector, (b) the pFLAGgp64 vector and (c) the phagemid vector used in this study contained DNAs encoding for: SS, signal sequence; L, linker peptide; lpp, the major lipoprotein of E. coli; H6, hexahistidinyl tail; FLAG, the epitope DYKDDDDK; AcNPVgp64, the major envelope protein gp64 of the AcNPV; TM, transmembrane domain; myc, the epitope EQKLISEEDLN and pIII protein (aa 1–406) of the filamentous bacteriophage M13. ptac, tac promoter; ppolh, polyhedrin promoter; plac, lac promoter; TT, transcription terminator; TAG, amber stop codon;  $f_1^+$ , phagemid origin of replication.

#### 2.1.1 Construction of human scFv gene libraries

Construction of the human scFv/ $\kappa$  and scFv/ $\lambda$  gene libraries used in the paper IV will be described in detail elsewhere (our unpublished results). Briefly, to construct the scFv libraries the Ig genes were amplified and cloned from B lymphocytes of healthy human donors. The V<sub>H</sub> chain repertoire was prepared by amplifying the IgM specific cDNA and the L chain repertoire by amplifying both V<sub> $\kappa$ </sub> and V<sub> $\lambda$ </sub> specific cDNAs (Marks *et al.*, 1991). The PCR amplification of the H and L gene repertoires was achieved using primer sets published previously (Marks *et al.*, 1991), and the gene repertoires were cloned into a phagemid vector modified from the pBluescript SK vector (Stratagene). The scFv/ $\kappa$  and scFv/ $\lambda$  libraries were estimated to contain 2.1 x 10<sup>7</sup> and 7.4 x 10<sup>7</sup> clones, respectively.

The phage display vector contained the *lac* promoter (*plac*), the pel B signal sequence, the transcription terminator region (TT) and the phagemid origin of replication ( $f_1^+$ ) (Fig. 8c). The Ig V domains are joined by the (GGGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker peptide, the c-myc peptide tag permits detection of the scFv in immunoassays and fusion to the pIII protein (aa 1–406) allows incorporation of the scFv into the phage. The presence of the amber stop codon (TAG) between the myc tag and the gene III allows (Fig. 8c) to switch between antibody fragment displayed on the phage surface and soluble antibody fragment by use of either a suppressor (XL-1 Blue) or a non-suppressor (HB2151) *E. coli* strain without recloning the gene.

## 2.2 Expression and purification of the antibody fragments

The different pKKtac expression vectors (Fig. 8a) were transformed into the expression host *E. coli* RV308. For induction the cells were grown to  $OD_{600} \sim 1.5$ , after which isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) was added to a final concentration of 1 mM and the bacteria were grown overnight at 30 °C. The secreted soluble antibodies were purified from the culture supernatants in one step by affinity chromatography using an Ox<sub>n</sub>BSA column (n = 19 or 22) (papers I, III). Protein concentrations of the purified soluble antibody fragments were determined from the A<sub>280</sub> values using the molar extinction coefficients.

The membrane-bound lpp-scFv-H6 antibody was first solubilized in detergent from the isolated bacterial cell envelopes and then purified in two steps using immobilized metal affinity chromatography (IMAC) and affinity chromatography on  $Ox_{21}BSA$  column as described in paper II.

## 2.3 Preparation of immunoliposomes

Immunoliposomes were prepared by adding the purified Ox lpp-scFv-H6 to a mixture of pure egg yolk phospholipids (PC, PE) and cholesterol solubilized in 1% non-ionic detergent, *n*-octyl- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside (OG). The detergent was removed by dialysis in dialysis bags or in a LIPOSOMAT dialyzer (Dianorm, Munich, Germany) and the immunoliposomes reconstituted were collected by ultracentrifugation and suspended in 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4 (paper II). Liposomes prepared in the absence of the lipid-tagged single-chain antibody were used as controls in the measurements.

## 2.4 Isolation of scFvs from a phage library

The scFv library DNAs containing the IgM V<sub>H</sub> sequences and either  $\kappa$  or  $\lambda$  V<sub>L</sub> sequences cloned into the phagemid vector were transformed by electroporation into *E. coli* XL-1 Blue cells (Stratagene, USA). The phage particles were rescued by superinfection with the filamentous phage VCS-M13 (Stratagene, USA) and a mixture of the scFv/ $\kappa$  and scFv/ $\lambda$  phage pools (1:2) was selected for clones binding to human colon carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (Calbiochem) using antigen-coated microtitre plate wells as described in paper IV. To decrease non-specific binding the phage pool was preincubated in a blocked microtitre plate well containing no antigen before incubation in a CEA-coated well. One CEA-specific clone was isolated from the fifth round of panning. DNA encoding the CEA-binding scFv was isolated, sequenced, cloned into the pKKtac vector and transformed into RV308 cells for further characterization.

## 2.5 Characterization of antibody binding properties

In this work ELISA was used to monitor the binding activities and specificities of both the soluble and membrane-bound Ox- and CEA-binding antibodies as described in papers I–IV. Fluorescence quenching (Eisen, 1964) was employed to determine the affinity constants  $(K_A)$  of the soluble anti-Ox antibody fragments (papers I, III) as described previously (Takkinen et al., 1991). The BIAcore biosensor was used to analyse the binding kinetics of the Ox IgG1 Fab fragment (K. Alfthan, unpublished data), the different Ox scFv derivatives and the Ox Fv fragment as described in paper III as well as the Ox-binding activity of the immunoliposomes (paper II). BIAcore was also employed to test the binding of the soluble CEA scFv isolated from the antibody phage library (K. Alfthan, unpublished data). A periplasmic sample of an induced RV308/pKKtac culture was run over CEA, which was immobilized on a CM5 sensor chip (190 RU) using the EDC/NHS amino coupling chemistry according to the manufacturer's instructions (BIAcore AB). Otherwise the conditions were those described in paper III. An untreated sensor chip surface was used as a control surface.

## 2.6 Other methods

Protein samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE according to Laemmli (1970) and then transferred onto a nitrocellulose filter (Towbin *et al.*, 1979). For immunostaining the filters were first incubated with specific antibodies recognizing either the Ox antibody fragments (papers I–III) or other epitopes fused to the proteins studied (paper IV), followed by incubation with an enzymelabelled antibody before addition of the substrate. Preparation of the Ox<sub>n</sub>BSA derivatives (n = 4–22) (papers I–IV) was performed basically as described by Mäkelä *et al.* (1978).

## 3. Results and discussion

Murine anti-2-phenyloxazolone antibody was chosen as a model antibody in this work (papers I–IV), because it has been extensively studied and much information was available on the maturation processes of the immune response to 2-phenyloxazolone (Ox) (Kaartinen *et al.*, 1983; Berek *et al.*, 1985). In addition, an anti-Ox antibody and its Ox-binding fragments have been used as model molecules for structural and functional studies of antibodies (Alzari *et al.*, 1990; McManus and Riechmann, 1991). To extend the study to human antibodies recognizing human proteins, CEA was used as a model antigen to isolate single-chain antibody fragments from a phage library (paper IV).

## 3.1 Characterization of soluble antibody fragments (I and III)

#### 3.1.1 Stability of Fab fragments (I)

The Ox Fab fragment used in our first studies was constructed from an Ox IgG3 class antibody. The production levels of the active Ox IgG3 Fab fragments in the early experiments were consistently low, which prompted us to produce an Ox Fab fragment of another subclass, Ox IgG1. In paper I we compared the properties of these two different Fab fragments. The results showed that in the case of Ox IgG1 the Fd and L chains were able to assemble to form the Fab fragment while a minor amount of assembled Ox IgG3 Fab was detectable. The L chains in both Ox IgG3 and Ox IgG1 Fab are identical as are also the  $V_{\rm H}$ domains except for five amino acid residues located in the D-J region. Thus, the main difference between the Ox IgG3 and Ox IgG1 Fab fragments is in the amino acid sequence of the  $C_{\rm H}$  domain and in the interchain disulfide bond arrangement (Fig. 9). On the basis of this information we tested the effect of the  $C_{H1}$  domain on the assembly of the chains. We therefore truncated most of the Fd chain while retaining the cysteine residue participating in the formation of the interchain disulfide bridge (Fig. 9). Deletion of most of the Fd chain from the Cterminus resulted in the assembly of a truncated, but fully functional Fab fragment, Ox IgG3 $\Delta$ C<sub>H</sub> (paper I, Fig. 2).



OxIgG1 Fab



*Figure 9. Schematic presentation of the interchain disulfide bond arrangement in the Ox Fab fragments studied.* 

The correct processing of the PelB signal sequence of the L and Fd chains was confirmed by N-terminal amino acid sequencing. In the case of the purified Ox IgG3 Fab only correctly processed L chain was observed and no intact Fd was detected. Several smaller molecular weight proteins were found, two of which were identified as C-terminal degradation products of the Fd chain (paper I, Fig. 4A). In the native, folded state proteins are normally much more resistant to cleavage by proteases compared to unfolded or misfolded molecules (Parsell and Sauer, 1989). In the case of the IgG3 Fd chain the observed instability may indicate problems in the folding of the Ox IgG3 Fab. A failure to produce functional proteins in *E. coli* may result either from the absence or limiting amount of appropriate molecular chaperones and/or disulfide isomerases necessary for folding and formation of disulfide bonds (Baneyx, 1999). Recent studies have led to the identification of new periplasmic catalysts, the

coexpression of which was shown to improve the folding of antibody fragments expressed in *E. coli* (Bothmann and Plückthun, 1998, 2000; Ramm and Plückthun, 2000). On the other hand, the IgG3 subclass antibodies have a tendency to aggregate and self-associate and at least in one case the site responsible for aggregation was reported to be located in the Fd fragment (Capra and Kunkel, 1970). Thus, precipitation in addition to the observed degradation of the Fd chain during synthesis in *E. coli* cannot be ruled out.

Similar observations of the Fd chain on the production of functional Fab fragments have been reported since the publication of paper I. It was shown recently that replacing the  $C_{\rm H}$  domain of murine IgG2a and IgG2b antibodies by that of the IgG1 subclass antibody significantly increased the production level of immunoreactive Fab fragments (Pajunen et al., 1997). In addition, expression of IgM Fab fragments in E. coli resulted in relatively low production levels and accumulation of the L chains, probably due to precipitation of the Fd chain in the periplasmic space of E. coli (Adib-Conquy et al., 1995; Jahn et al., 1995). The C<sub>H</sub>1 domain of the IgM subclass antibody is glycosylated (Davies and Shulman, 1989), and thus the lack of glycosylation in bacteria may also contribute to the low levels of IgM Fab in these cases. Interestingly, all these antibody types, IgG2a, IgG2b and IgM, share the interchain disulfide bond arrangement with the IgG3 antibody. At this point, it would be tempting to speculate that this kind of interchain disulfide bond arrangement is involved in the non-productive folding of Fab fragments in E. coli. However, the situation is more complex, as shown in the case of human IgE Fab fragments (Steinberg et al., 1996), which have a similar interchain disulfide bond arrangement to that of the IgG3 antibodies. Nevertheless, the IgE Fab fragments have been successfully expressed on the surface of bacteriophage, demonstrating the ability of the Fd chain to assemble in E. coli (Steinberg et al., 1996). It also appears that the effect of the constant domains on the production of functional Fab fragments is not limited to the Fd chain, but that C<sub>L</sub> domains can also have a significant influence on the expression of functional antibody fragments (MacKenzie et al., 1994). All these results together emphasize that still more information is required to understand all the factors influencing the productive folding and disulfide bond formation of functional Fab fragments in E. coli.

The thermal stabilities measured for the different Fab fragments suggest that the  $C_{H1}$  domain stabilizes the structure against denaturation. This is demonstrated

by the results showing that the Ox antibody fragments lacking the  $C_{H1}$  domain began to loose their activity already at 40°C, whereas those antibodies having an intact  $C_{H1}$  domain were active up to 60°C (paper I, Fig. 5). In another study it was observed that glycerol decreases the binding affinity of the scFv fragment, although no effect of the glycerol on the activity was observed for the Fab fragment or the whole monoclonal antibody (Müller *et al.*, 1994). It was suggested that the constant domains adjacent to the V domains provide additional stabilization of the molecular structure at the antigen binding site. By using phage display technology, it is now possible to generate antibody fragments and other proteins with improved stability by performing the selection steps at elevated temperatures or in the presence of denaturants or proteases (Chowdhury *et al.*, 1998; Sieber *et al.*, 1998; Jung *et al.*, 1999).

#### 3.1.2 Stability of scFv and Fv fragments (III)

In an earlier work we constructed an Ox scFv in which the C-terminus of the  $V_H$  domain was joined to the N-terminus of the  $V_L$  domain by a 28 amino acid residues long interdomain peptide of the *Trichoderma reesei* cellobiohydrolase I, CBHI (Fig. 10) (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991). Initially, the CBHI linker peptide was chosen because it represents a flexible linker in a naturally secreted multidomain protein. The Ox scFv was secreted into the periplasm of *E. coli* and released as an active hapten binding fragment into the culture medium. During the bacterial production we observed occasional proteolytic degradation of the linker peptide, the extent of which varied between cultivations. Even when degradation occurred it was not so extensive as to prevent the use of these scFvs fragments in our studies. The yields of the intact fragment were satisfactory and allowed functional characterization of the antibody.

The proteolytic cleavage sites ( $\downarrow$ ) of the CBHI linker were determined by Nterminal amino acid sequencing and three sites were identified: R5 $\downarrow$ G6, R11 $\downarrow$ R12 and H27 $\downarrow$ Y28 (Fig. 10). In order to improve the stability of the CBHI linker, we constructed shorter linker variants of 11, 6 and 2 amino acid residues by omitting the identified proteolytic cleavage sites (Fig. 10). This truncation of the linker was prompted by the molecular model constructed earlier for the Ox Fv fragment (Holm *et al.*, 1990; Hoffrén *et al.*, 1992), which suggested that both the C-terminus of the V<sub>H</sub> domain and the N-terminus of the V<sub>L</sub> domain are flexible enough to serve as part of the linker. In addition to these CBHI linkers, we tested the performance of two other linkers, a 15 amino acid residues long (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker (Huston *et al.*, 1988) and a 22 amino acid residues long IgG2b hinge sequence (Bell *et al.*, 1990) (Fig. 10), in which the four Cys residues of the original sequence were replaced by Ser residues. In addition to the different Ox scFv derivatives, a corresponding Ox Fv fragment without any joining peptide between the V domains was produced.



Figure 10. Linker peptide sequences used in this study. The proteolytic cleavage sites are indicated by arrows.

Attempts to improve the stability of the scFv molecule by truncation of the CBHI linker peptide revealed that the degradation could not be completely avoided simply by omitting the identified protease sensitive sites in the linker peptide. In addition it was also observed that the Ox scFv with the modified IgG 2b linker was cleaved into two smaller fragments after purification, probably due to the presence of copurified proteases (paper III, Fig. 3A). N-terminal amino acid sequencing revealed that the proteolytic cleavage site was located in the linker peptide at the site T8 $\downarrow$ I9 (Fig. 10). One approach to minimize or avoid proteolytic degradation might be to produce the antibody fragments as insoluble proteins into the bacterial cytoplasm, as inclusion bodies are often protected from degradation (Baneyx, 1999). This strategy, however, requires effective *in vitro* refolding steps, which may be laborious and time-consuming to optimize.

In this study the observed proteolytic degradation of the Ox scFv fragment could not be eliminated by replacing the CBHI linker by the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker. Some amounts of low molecular weight proteolytic degradation products were observed in both cases (paper III, Fig. 2). However, the functionality of the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker has been demonstrated in several studies and currently the most frequently used linkers are composed of repeats of glycine and serine residues. The flexibility of the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker has been confirmed by NMR and it was also observed that the linker peptide had essentially no influence on the structure of the V domains (Freund *et al.*, 1993). As well as the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker (Huston *et al.*, 1988) longer derivatives even up to 30 amino acid residues, (GGGGS)<sub>6</sub>, have been used (Nieba *et al.*, 1997). The results of several recent studies suggest that phage display combined with random mutagenesis of the linker might provide a rational means to optimize the linker sequence (Tang *et al.*, 1996; Turner *et al.*, 1997; Hennecke *et al.*, 1998).

Since publication of our study on Ox scFv (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991), the CBHI linker peptide has been applied to construct also other scFv molecules. For example, a modified CBHI' linker containing 24 amino acid residues was employed to join two scFvs with different binding specificities in order to construct a bispecific scFv produced in *E. coli* (Mallender and Voss, 1994). In this study the antibody fragments accumulated in bacteria as insoluble inclusion bodies and although smaller antibody fragments were detected in the sample after purification, no instability of the CBHI' linker was reported. The CHBI linker has also been used to join the V domains of a CEA specific antibody and the performance of this scFv for tumor localization *in vivo* was compared to that of an scFv with the 14 amino acid residues long "212" linker (Bedzyk *et al.*, 1990). It was noticed that the scFv containing the linker "212" had better pharmacokinetic properties than the scFv with the CBHI linker. Proteolytic cleavage of the CBHI linker *in vivo* was suggested as one of the possible explanations for this difference between the two scFvs (Wu *et al.*, 1996).

During this work we did not observe any proteolytic degradation of the Ox Fv fragment. However, the V domains of the Fv fragments are known to dissociate at low protein concentrations (Glockshuber *et al.*, 1990). Although the Fv fragments are less stable than the scFv fragments, the apparent stability of the Fv molecules is increased with high protein concentration and in the presence of the

antigen (Jäger and Plückthun, 1999). In our study we observed instability of the Ox Fv fragment during the hapten binding studies (see 3.1.3).

#### 3.1.3 Binding properties of the antibody fragments (I and III)

The Ox scFv constructed earlier showed hapten binding affinity comparable to that of the corresponding parental monoclonal antibody indicating that the CBHI linker peptide used to join the V domains did not disturb Ox binding of the scFv molecule (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991). In this work we determined the hapten binding properties of several other recombinant antibody fragments produced in *E. coli* using ELISA, BIAcore and fluorescence quenching.

In order to study the effect of the linker peptides on the hapten binding activity of the Ox scFv molecule, the different scFv derivatives (see Fig. 10) were first measured by ELISA. The results suggested similar hapten binding activities of the original Ox scFv and the Ox scFv with the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker, whereas increased activity was observed for the shorter Ox scFv derivatives (paper III, Fig.4). Further, the binding activity appeared to be inversely proportional to the length of the linker; the shortest derivative showed the highest response, approaching that of the intact antibody. Earlier observations had suggested that the use of short linker peptides drives dimerization of the scFvs (Holliger *et al.*, 1993). Gel filtration analysis of the Ox scFv derivatives revealed that the original Ox scFv and the one with a (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker were monomeric, whereas the shorter derivatives existed in several different forms. Results obtained later by others supported our observation that the use of the CBHI linker allows folding of the V domains, resulting in a monomeric scFv (Wu et al., 1996), while with the  $(GGGGS)_3$  linker both monomeric (Iliades *et al.*, 1997) and multimeric (Desplancq et al., 1994) forms were observed. The multimerization appears to be concentration-dependent, increasing antibody concentrations driving the formation of multimers (Desplancq et al., 1994). In addition to dimers, trimers, tetramers or even higher molecular mass multimers have been obtained either by using short linkers or by omitting the linker peptide (Iliades et al., 1997; Kortt et al., 1997; Atwell et al., 1999; Le Gall et al., 1999; Dolezal et al., 2000). Competitive ELISA was used to confirm the binding specificity of all the antibody fragments (data not shown). However, in the case of the Ox Fv fragment problems were encountered in attempts to obtain a linear correlation between sample dilution and absorbance, probably due to dissociation of the V domains during the experiment (Glockshuber *et al.*, 1990; Jäger and Plückthun, 1999).

The BIAcore biosensor was used to analyze the binding kinetics of the different Ox scFv derivatives and the corresponding Ox Fv fragment. Attempts to separate the different molecular forms of the truncated Ox scFv fragments by gel filtration did not give satisfactory resolution and samples containing mixtures of the different molecular forms were taken for BIAcore analysis. Two different epitope densities, high (Ox<sub>16</sub>BSA) and low (Ox<sub>4</sub>BSA), were chosen in order to see the possible effects caused by the differences in the binding valencies of the samples. The binding data was evaluated using the 1:1 interaction model available in the kinetic software supplied by the manufacturer at that time. Although the interaction of multivalent antibodies with the antigen is much more complex this simple set-up allowed us to compare the relative binding properties between the different samples.

The analysis revealed that the Ox scFvs with the truncated CHBI linkers showed higher apparent K<sub>A</sub> values than the original Ox scFv and the Ox scFv with the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker, which is consistent with the results obtained by ELISA. The K<sub>A</sub> value of the Ox Fv determined on the high epitope surface was close to that of the parental monoclonal antibody (1.5 x 10<sup>-6</sup>M<sup>-1</sup>, Takkinen et al., 1991) determined by the fluorescence quenching method, whereas higher KA values were obtained with all the other samples. The KA values on the low epitope surface were lower than those obtained on the high epitope surface (paper III, Table I) and in the case of the original Ox scFv and the Ox scFv with the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> they were close to those values obtained by the fluorescence quench titration (Table I). The responses of the Ox Fv on the low epitope surface were too low to rely on. The Ox scFv derivatives with the truncated CBHI linkers dissociated more slowly from the high epitope surface than from the low epitope surface due to the presence of bi- or multivalent fragments, whereas the monovalent Ox scFv fragments dissociated with similar rates from both surfaces. Slow dissociation of bivalent or multivalent antibody fragments has also been reported by other workers (reviewed in paper V). The kinetic constants determined with both low and high epitope densities for the Ox IgG1 Fab (K. Alfthan, unpublished data) were close to those obtained for the monomeric Ox scFv fragments. The K<sub>A</sub> values determined on the low epitope surface for all the monovalent fragments were close to those obtained with the fluorescence quenching method and were also comparable to that of the parental monoclonal anti-Ox antibody (Table 1).

Table 1. Kinetic constants,  $k_{ass}$ ,  $k_{diss}$  and  $K_A$  ( $k_{ass}/k_{diss}$ ) determined for the monomeric Ox antibody fragments by BIAcore on the Ox<sub>4</sub>BSA surface (paper III, unpublished results) and the  $K_A$  values determined by fluorescence quenching (FQ) (papers I, III).

	$k_{ass}$ (M <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	k <sub>diss</sub> (s <sup>-1</sup> )	K <sub>A</sub> (M <sup>-1</sup> )	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{F}\mathbf{Q})\\ (\mathbf{M}^{-1}) \end{array}$
Ox scFv <sub>CBHI</sub>	$3.6 \times 10^3$	2.5 x 10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.4 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	0.9 x 10 <sup>6</sup>
Ox scFv <sub>(GGGGS)3</sub>	$7.4 \times 10^3$	1.5 x 10 <sup>-3</sup>	$4.9 \ge 10^6$	1.1 x 10 <sup>6</sup>
Ox IgG1Fab	$7.4 \times 10^3$	2.7 x 10 <sup>-3</sup>	2.7 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.8 x 10 <sup>6</sup>

K<sub>A</sub> value of parental Ox IgG1: 1.5 x10<sup>6</sup> M<sup>-1</sup> (Takkinen et al., 1991)

The affinities of the Ox IgG3 $\Delta$ C<sub>H</sub> and of the Ox IgG3 Fab fragments were determined by the fluorescence quench titration and found to be close to those of the parental monoclonal antibody. The observed binding activity of the Ox IgG3 Fab fragment is probably a result of noncovalent pairing of the L chain with the C-terminal degradation products of Fd chains, which are still able to form an intact and relatively stable antigen binding cavity. By contrast, attempts to determine the K<sub>A</sub> values of the Ox Fv by fluorescence quenching gave different K<sub>A</sub> values for different Fv concentrations, indicating instability of Fv fragments, which has been found to be concentration dependent (Glockshuber *et al.*, 1990; Jäger and Plückthun, 1999).

## 3.2 Characterization of scFvs displayed on liposomes (II)

It was earlier shown that fusion of the signal peptide and the nine N-terminal amino acid residues of the major lipoprotein of *E. coli* (lpp) to the Ox scFv with the 28 amino acid CBHI linker led to expression of an active lipid-modified single-chain antibody, which behaved like a membrane protein (Laukkanen *et al.*, 1993). The work in paper II describes the functional reconstitution of this biosynthetically lipid- and histidine-tagged Ox lpp-scFv-H6 in liposomes. The Ox lpp-scFv-H6 was expressed in *E. coli* and purified in two steps by applying IMAC followed by a hapten affinity chromatography. The purified, detergent solubilized Ox lpp-scFv-H6 was reconstituted in active form into liposomes by dialysis. The average number of antibody molecules per liposome was calculated to be about 2000. In addition the detergent dialysis method was thought to lead to a 50/50 distribution in terms of inward/outward orientation of the reconstituted protein.

In therapeutic and diagnostic approaches both the strength and specificity of the antibody-antigen interaction mediating the binding of liposomes to the antigen is of crucial importance. The multivalent binding obtained by display of many antibody molecules on the surface of liposomes can be thought to lead to higher binding avidity. In this study the Ox binding of the immunoliposomes was analyzed in BIAcore by running the liposomes on a sensor chip surface with immobilized Ox<sub>16</sub>BSA. The results showed increased binding of the immunoliposomes to Ox16BSA compared to BSA used as a control surface (paper II, Fig. 5B). Also liposomes lacking the antibody did not bind to either surface. The binding of the Ox scFv displayed on liposomes was inhibited in the presence of the soluble hapten in a concentration dependent manner which confirmed the specificity of the binding (paper II, Fig.6). We also tested the hapten binding activity of the soluble lipid-tagged Ox scFv in BIAcore in the presence of different detergents (Triton X-100, n-octyl β-D-glucopyranoside). In contrast to the soluble Ox scFv, no reproducible binding of the lipid-tagged Ox scFv was observed. As demonstrated by both the successful affinity purification of the fragment and ELISA assay, the presence of the detergent as such allows the lipid-tagged Ox scFv to bind the hapten (paper II, Fig. 3). The reason for this discrepancy is not clear.

Dissociation of the immunoliposomes from the hapten surface analyzed in BIAcore was extremely slow compared to that of the soluble Ox scFv (paper II, Fig.5C), which is in good agreement with the expected multivalent binding of immunoliposomes. The determination of the affinity constant for the interaction between the hapten and the scFv fragments displayed on the liposomes was not possible in the assay format used in this study. This was because the concentration of the active antibody molecule has to be known, but this was not possible in our experimental design. At this point further studies on binding kinetics were not performed. However, it is possible to analyze interaction kinetics of molecules displayed on liposomes by capturing the intact liposomes on a sensor surface (Masson et al., 1994; MacKenzie et al., 1997; Harrison et al., 1998). For the kinetic analysis, the other binding partner can then be supplied in different concentrations over this liposome surface. New modified sensor chips designed either to immobilize intact liposomes or to form a lipid layer generated from the liposomes on the sensor surface may provide another useful approach in future studies (Cooper et al., 1998; Erb et al., 2000). This development in surface chemistry allows analysis of biomolecular interactions in a membrane environment, and thus may open new possibilities in membrane protein research.

The potentiality of the immunoliposomes as specific, stable and signalamplifying immunodiagnostic reagents was demonstrated in later studies, in which either europium-chelate (Laukkanen *et al.*, 1995) or carboxyfluorescein (Kobatake *et al.*, 1997) was encapsulated as a fluorescent marker in immunoliposomes harboring the lipid-tagged Ox.

## 3.3 Characterization of scFvs displayed on baculovirus (IV)

Recombinant baculoviruses can be used for efficient production of proteins with post-translational modifications such as glycosylation, phosphorylation, acylation and palmitylation and therefore serve as potential candidates for a eukaryotic display system. Baculoviruses are not inherently pathogenic for mammalian cells and thus possess potential for use as gene delivery vehicles (Hofmann *et al.*, 1995). To target the virus it is possible to introduce cell specific molecules on the viral surface. One approach for the specific targeting is presented in paper IV, in which the ability of baculovirus to display functional scFv fragments and

synthetic IgG-binding domains (Z and ZZ) was studied. Three different scFvs were chosen for this work, two of which were murine Ox scFvs, one with the 28 amino acid CBHI linker and the other with the  $(GGGGS)_3$  linker (Fig. 10). The third scFv containing the  $(GGGGS)_3$  linker peptide was specific for CEA and was isolated from a naive human scFv library (see below). CEA is expressed on different cancer cells, e.g. colorectal carcinoma cells and it has been used as a marker in determining and monitoring the status of malignant diseases (Konishi *et al.*, 1998).

#### 3.3.1 Isolation of scFvs from a phage library

To isolate CEA-specific scFvs (CEA scFv), a mixture of the human scFv/ $\kappa$  and scFv/ $\lambda$  phage libraries (~ 10<sup>11</sup> phage particles) was incubated on a CEA-coated microtitre plate well after preincubation on a blocked well without the antigen. After five rounds of selection the DNA pool was isolated and transformed to a non-suppressor *E. coli* strain (HB2151) to produce soluble scFvs. The expression of the scFv was confirmed from both the culture supernatant and the periplasmic fraction by immunoblotting, and the CEA specific clones were identified from the twenty clones analyzed. These three positive clones were sequenced and found to have identical DNA sequences. The deduced amino acid sequences of the CDRs found in this clone were similar to those of the CEA scFvs isolated earlier by other groups from naive human scFv libraries (data not shown).

The antigen binding activity of the CEA scFv was tested in BIAcore by running the periplasmic fraction isolated from the induced RV308 culture on the sensor chip surface with immobilized CEA. A low but significant binding response was observed, compared to a control (untreated) sensor chip surface (K. Alfthan, unpublished data) (Fig. 11). The specificity of the isolated CEA scFv was confirmed by competition ELISA from the culture supernatant (paper IV, Fig. 2).



Figure 11. Binding of the isolated scFv on immobilized CEA analyzed by BIAcore. The background signal obtained on the control surface has been subtracted.

#### 3.3.2 Binding properties of the scFvs displayed on baculovirus

For the expression on the surface of virions, the two Ox scFvs and the CEA scFv were fused to the N-terminus of the major envelope protein, gp64, of the baculovirus AcNPV. All the antibodies were incorporated into the virion, although the amount of the Ox scFv with the CHBI linker was significantly lower than that of the two other scFvs with the (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker peptide (paper IV, Fig. 4). These two Ox scFv fragments differ from each other only with respect to the linker, and the Ox scFv with the 28 amino acid CBHI linker is known to be produced as a soluble and active antibody in *E. coli* (Takkinen *et al.*, 1991; paper III). The CBHI linker is rich in Ser and Thr residues, which in the filamentous fungus *Trichoderma reesei* are known to be O-glycosylated (Tomme *et al.*, 1988; Salovuori *et al.*, 1987). It is possible that the high degree of the O-glycosylation in the linker peptide during expression in insect cells interferes with the incorporation of this scFv into the baculovirus particle.

The antigen/hapten binding ability of the scFvgp64 fusions was first demonstrated by ELISA from the cell lysates from virus-infected insect cells

(paper IV, Fig. 5). The expression of the scFv fragments on viral particles and the specificity of the binding were then confirmed from the viral supernatants using competitive ELISA (paper IV, Fig. 6). The only scFv fusion protein, which failed to give ELISA signals above the background, was the Ox scFvgp64 with the CBHI linker. This is consistent with the low incorporation of this fusion protein into the virus particle (paper IV, Fig. 4). Throughout the ELISA experiments the CEA scFvgp64 fusion showed the highest signal of all the scFv fusion proteins tested. The CEA scFv was originally isolated from a phage display library, demonstrating that this scFv is well expressed in bacteria. The results obtained in this study suggest good expression of this fragment also in the eukaryotic display system applied. It has been shown earlier that selection of the scFv phage libraries on microtitre plate wells favours enrichment of scFv fragments forming dimers (Schier et al., 1996a). Neither the presence of dimers nor the binding affinity of the CEA scFv was studied in this case. As another approach to confirm the specific hapten/antigen binding of the scFvgp64 fusions, the virus particles were analyzed in BIAcore by running the infected cell culture supernatants on immobilized Ox16BSA or CEA. However, interpretation of the results was hampered by non-specific binding of the virus on the sensor chip surface. The gp64 fusion proteins are transported onto the surface of infected insect cells, from which they are then incorporated into the budded virus particles. Thus, one possibility to control production of functional pg64 fusions is to analyze by FACS the binding of the proteins expressed on the infected insect cells rather than the virus particles themselves (Ernst et al., 1998).

The baculovirus display system may prove to be a useful display technology for large, complex eukaryotic proteins that cannot be processed post-translationally correctly in bacteria. Currently, however, the construction of large baculovirus display libraries is limited by the relatively low transfection efficiency ( $6.6 \times 10^5$  clones/µg viral DNA, Ernst *et al.*, 1994). Further, the amount of recombinant fusion protein present on the viral envelope compared to the native gp64 protein is relatively low, necessitating means to increase the display efficiency. Due to the fragile nature of the AcNPV budded viruses (Summers and Volkman, 1976; Mottershead *et al.*, 1997), the selection and screening methods used to isolate binders from the phage display libraries are most probably not applicable to baculovirus display system and thus the development of new, gentle but efficient selection and screening methods is needed. Despite these apparent limitations, a proof of the principle of the display of active antibodies on the surface of

baculovirus was demonstrated in this work, and future development of the methodology will eventually show the usefulness of the baculovirus system both in the display technology and in gene therapy.

# 4. Conclusions

Antibodies have been targets of intensive protein engineering due to their practical importance in medical, diagnostic and research applications. As shown in this work and by others, a number of different antibody fragments can be expressed in E. coli as active antigen-binding proteins. By utilizing the bacterial secretory machinery the proteins are produced in their native state and no in vitro refolding is needed. However, the expression levels of the functional antibodies may vary widely. This work demonstrated that the stability of the antibody fragments against proteolysis during their production in bacteria is one of the factors, which influences the yield of the functional fragments. The susceptibility to proteases may arise from incomplete folding of the antibody fragments or the presence of proteolytic cleavage sites in the engineered antibodies. Two findings of specific importance were made. Firstly, it was observed that the production of stable and active mouse Fab fragments depends on the first constant domain of the heavy chain. Comparison of the IgG3 and IgG1 Fab indicated the superiority of the latter for the production of active properly assembled Fab fragments in E. coli. Secondly, the results indicated that a linker peptide is necessary to stabilize the Fv fragment, but that the linker region may be susceptible to proteolytic degradation. In addition it was demonstrated that linker peptides shorter that 12 amino acids promote the formation of dimeric or multimeric scFvs, which showed increased binding activities compared to the monomeric scFvs.

The development of antibody phage display technology for generating antibodies with improved or novel binding properties has opened new possibilities in the entire field of antibody technology. In this work, two alternative antibody display systems, liposome display and baculovirus display, were explored. Liposomes displaying antibody fragments have potential applications in immunoassays, targeted drug delivery and gene therapy. This work demonstrated that a biosynthetically lipid-tagged scFv can be immobilized in a stable and orientated manner onto liposomal membranes, which allows reconstitution of active hapten-binding immunoliposomes. Biosynthetic lipidtagging of bacterially expressed antibody fragment provides an alternative for chemical conjugation of antibodies to liposomes. Expression of foreign proteins on the baculovirus surface provides a means for functional display of complex eukaryotic proteins. In this work the baculovirus display system was studied using single-chain antibodies as model proteins. Baculoviruses carrying a celltargeting function, such as antibodies, have aroused interest as a gene transfer vehicle. It was shown that fusion of the scFv fragments to the baculovirus major envelope protein led to the expression of active scFv fragments on the surface of the virus particles.

This work and many others show that antibodies are molecules which are compatible with a number of expression systems and that they tolerate significant structural modifications without loss of the binding function. The enormous application potential, limited only by the imagination, will thus continue to make antibody engineering increasingly popular in many areas of research as well as in medical and industrial applications.
## References

Adams, G.P., McCartney, J.E., Tai, M.-S., Oppermann, H., Huston, J.S., Stafford III, W.F., Bookman, M.A., Fand, I., Houston, L.L. and Weiner, L.M. 1993. Highly specific *in vivo* tumor targeting by monovalent and divalent forms of 741F8 anti-c-*erb*B-2 single-chain Fv. *Cancer Res.*, **53**, 4026–4034.

Adams, G.P., Schier, R., Marshall, K., Wolf, E.J., McCall, A.M., Marks, J.D. and Weiner, L.M. 1998. Increased affinity leads to improved selective tumor delivery of single-chain Fv antibodies. *Cancer Res.*, **58**, 485–490.

Adams, G.P. and Schier, R. 1999. Generating improved single-chain Fv molecules for tumor targeting. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **231**, 249–260.

Adib-Conquy, M., Gilbert, M., Christodoulou, C. and Avrameas, S. 1995. Bacterial secretion of the Fab fragment of a mouse monoclonal IgM that reacts with IgG variable regions. *Protein Eng.*, **8**, 859–863.

Allen, T.M., Hansen, C. and Rutledge, J. 1989. Liposomes with prolonged circulation times: factors affecting uptake by reticuloendothelial and other tissues. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, **981**, 27–35.

Allen, T.M., Brandeis, E., Hansen, C.B., Kao, G.Y. and Zalipsky, S. 1995. A new strategy for attachment of antibodies to sterically stabilized liposomes resulting in efficien targeting to cancer cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, **1237**, 99–108.

Alzari, P.M., Spinelli, S., Mariuzza, R.A., Boulot, G., Poljak, R.J., Jarvis, J.M. and Milstein, C. 1990. Three-dimensional structure determination of an anti-2-phenyloxazolone antibody: the role of somatic mutation and heavy/light chain pairing in the maturation of an immune response. *EMBO J.*, **9**, 3807–3814.

Anand, N.N., Mandal, S., MacKenzie, C.R., Sadowska, J., Sigurskjold, B., Young, N.M., Bundle, D.R. and Narang, S.A. 1991. Bacterial expression and secretion of various single-chain Fv genes encoding proteins specific for a *Salmonella* serotype B O-antigen. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **266**, 21874–21879.

Atwell, J.L., Pearce, L.A., Lah, M., Gruen, L.C., Kortt, A.A. and Hudson, P.J. 1996. Design and expression of a stable bispecific scFv dimer with affinity for both glycophorin and N9 neuramidase. *Mol. Immunol.*, **33**, 1301–1312.

Atwell, J.L., Breheney, K.A., Lawrence, L.J., McCoy, A.J., Kortt, A.A. and Hudson, P.J. 1999. scFv multimers of the anti-neuraminidase antibody NC10: lenght of the linker between  $V_H$  and  $V_L$  domains dictates precisely the transition between diabodies and triabodies. *Protein Eng.*, **12**, 597–604.

Baneyx, F. 1999. Recombinant protein expression in *Escherichia coli*. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **10**, 411–421.

Barbas, C.F. III, Kang, A.S., Lerner, R.A. and Benkovic, S.J. 1991. Assembly of combinatorial antibody libraries on phage surfaces: the gene III site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **88**, 7978–7982.

Barbas, C.F. III, Bain, J.D., Hoekstra, D.M. and Lerner, R.A. 1992. Semisynthetic combinatorial antibody libraries: a chemical solution to the diversity problem. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **89**, 4457–4461.

Batra, J.K., Kasprzyk, P.G., Bird, R.E., Pastan, I. and King, C.R. 1992. Recombinant anti-erbB2 immunotoxins containing *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **89**, 5867–5871.

Bei, R., Schlom, J. and Kashmiri, S.V.S. 1995. Baculovirus expression of a functional single-chain immunoglobulin and its IL-2 fusion protein. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **186**, 245–255.

Bell, L.D., McCullagh, K.G. and Porter, A.G. 1990. Covalently linked polypeptide cell modulators. *US Patent* **4**, **935**, **233**.

Bedzyk, W.D., Weidner, K.M., Denzin, L.K., Johnson, L.S., Hardman, K.D., Pantoliano, M.W., Asel, E.D. and Voss, E.W. Jr. 1990. Immunological and structural characterization of a high affinity anti-fluorescein single-chain antibody. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **265**, 18615–18620.

Berek, C., Griffiths, G.M. and Milstein, C. 1985. Molecular events during maturation of the immune response to oxazolone. *Nature*, **316**, 412–418.

Better, M., Chang, C.P., Robinson, R.R. and Horwitz, A.H. 1988. *Escherichia coli* secretion of an active chimeric antibody fragment. *Science*, **240**, 1041–1043.

Bhat, T.N., Bentley, G.A., Boulot, G., Greene, M.I., Tello, D., DallÁcqua, W., Souchon, H., Schwarz, F.P., Mariuzza, R.A. and Poljak, R.J. 1994. Bound water molecules and conformational stabilization help mediate an antigen-antibody association. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **91**, 1089–1093.

Bhatia, J., Sharma, S.K., Chester, K.A., Pedley, B., Boden, R.W., Read, D.A., Boxer, G.M., Michael, N.P. and Begent, R.H.J. 2000. Catalytic activity of an *in vivo* tumor targeted anti-CEA scFv::carboxypeptidase G2 fusion protein. *Int. J. Cancer*, **85**, 571–577.

Bird, R.E., Hardman, K.D., Jacobson, J.W., Johnson, S., Kaufman, B.M., Lee, S.-M., Lee, T., Pope, S.H., Riordan, G.S. and Whitlow, M. 1988. Single-chain antigen-binding proteins. *Science*, **242**, 423–426.

Blissard, G.W. and Rohrmann, G.F. 1990. Baculovirus diversity and molecular biology. Annu. Rev. Entomol., **35**, 127–155.

Blissard, G.W. and Wenz, J.R. 1992. Baculovirus gp64 envelope glycoprotein is sufficient to mediate pH-dependent membrane fusion. *J. Virol.*, **66**, 6829–6835.

Boder, E.T. and Wittrup, K.D. 1997. Yeast surface display for screening combinatorial polypeptide libraries. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **15**, 553–557.

Borrebaeck, C.A.K. 1998. Tapping the potential of molecular libraries in functional genomics. *Immunol. Today*, **19**, 524–527.

Bothmann, H. and Plückthun, A. 1998. Selection for a periplasmic factor improving phage display and functional periplasmic expression. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **16**, 376–380.

Bothmann, H. and Plückthun, A. 2000. The periplasmic *Escherichia coli* peptidylprolyl *cis,trans*-isomerase FkpA. I. Increased functional expression of antibody fragments with and without *cis*-prolines. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **275**, 17100–17105.

Boublik, Y., Di Bonito, P. and Jones, I.M. 1995. Eukaryotic virus display: engineering the major surface glycoprotein of the *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus (AcNPV) for the presentation of foreign proteins on the virus surface. *Bio/Technology*, **13**, 1079–1084.

Boulianne, G.L., Hozumi, N. and Shulman, M.J. 1984. Production of functional chimaeric mouse/human antibody. *Nature*, **312**, 643–646.

Brégégère, F., Schwartz, J. and Bedouelle, H. 1994. Bifunctional hybrids between the variable domains of an immunoglobulin and the maltose-binding protein of *Escherichia coli*: production, purification and antigen binding. *Protein Eng.*, **7**, 271–280.

Brinkmann, U., Reiter, Y., Jung, S.-H., Lee, B. and Pastan, I. 1993. A recombinant immunotoxin containing a disulfide-stabilized Fv fragment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **90**, 7538–7542.

Brinkmann, U., Chowdhury, P.S., Roscoe, D.M. and Pastan, I. 1995. Phage display of disulfide-stabilized Fv fragments. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **182**, 41–50.

Brüggemann, M., Spicer, C., Buluwela, L., Rosewell, I., Barton, S., Surani, M.A. and Rabbitts, T.H. 1991. Human antibody production in transgenic mice: expression from 100 kb of the human IgH locus. *Eur. J. Immunol.*, **21**, 1323–1326.

Brüggemann, M. and Taussig, M.J. 1997. Production of human antibody repertoires in transgenic mice. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **8**, 455–458.

Buchner, J. and Rudolph, R. 1991. Renaturation, purification and characterization of recombinant Fab fragments produced in *Escherichia coli*. *Bio/Technology*, **9**, 157–162.

Burton, D.R., Barbas III, C.F., Persson, M.A.A., Koenig, S., Chanock, R.M. and Lerner, R.A. 1991. A large array of human monoclonal antibodies to type 1 human immunodeficiency virus from combinatorial libraries of asymptomatic seropositive individuals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **88**, 10134–10137.

Carrier, A., Ducancel, F., Settiawan, N.B., Cattolico, L., Maillere, B., Leonetti, M., Drevet, P., Menez, A. and Boulain, J.-C. 1995. Recombinant antibodyalkaline phosphatase conjugates for diagnosis of human IgGs: application to anti-HBsAg detection. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **181**, 177–186.

Capra, J.D. and Kunkel, H.G. 1970. Aggregation of  $\gamma$ G3 proteins: relevance to the hyperviscosity syndrome. *J. Clin. Invest.*, **49**, 610–621.

Carter, P., Kelley, R.E., Rodrigues, M.L., Snedecor, B., Covarrubias, M., Velligan, M.D., Wong, W.L.T., Rowland, A.M., Kotts, C.E., Carver, M.E. *et al.*, 1992. High level *Escherichia coli* expression and production of a bivalent humanized antibody fragment. *Bio/Technology*, **10**, 163–167.

Casey, J.L., Keep, P.A., Chester, K.A., Robson, L., Hawkins, R.E. and Begent, R.H.J. 1995. Purification of bacterially expressed single chain Fv antibodies for clinical applications using metal chelate chromatography. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **179**, 105–116.

Cattaneo, A. and Biocca, S. 1999. The selection of intracellular antibodies. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **17**, 115–121.

Chaudhary, V.K., Queen, C., Junghans, R.P., Waldmann, T.A., FitzGerald, D.J. and Pastan, I. 1989. A recombinant immunotoxin consisting of two antibody variable domains fused to *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. *Nature*, **339**, 394–397.

Chaudhary, V.K., Batra, J.K., Gallo, M.G., Willingham, M.C., FitzGerald, D.J. and Pastan, I. 1990. A rapid method of cloning functional variable-region antibody genes in *Escherichia coli* as single-chain immunotoxins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **87**, 1066–1070.

Cheong, H.S., Chang, J.S., Park, J.M. and Byun, S.M. 1990. Affinity enhancement of bispecific antibody against two different epitopes in the same antigen. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **173**, 795–800.

Chothia, C. and Lesk, A.M. 1987. Canonial structures for the hypervariable regions of immunoglobulins. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **196**, 901–917.

Chowdhury, P.S., Viner, J.L., Beers, R. and Pastan, I. 1998. Isolation of a highaffinity stable single-chain Fv specific for mesothelin from DNA-immunized mice by phage display and construction of a recombinant immunotoxin with anti-tumor activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **95**, 669–674.

Chowdhury, P.S. and Pastan, I. 1999. Improving antibody affinity by mimicking somatic hypermutation in vitro. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **17**, 568–572.

Clackson, T., Hoogenboon, H.R., Griffiths, A. and Winter, G. 1991. Making antibody fragments using phage display libraries. *Nature*, **352**, 624–628.

Cochlovius, B., Kipriyanov, S.M., Stassar, M.J.J.G., Christ, O., Schuhmacher, J., Strauß, G., Moldenhauer, G. and Little, M. 2000. Treatment of human B cell lymphima xenografts with CD3 x CD19 diabody and T cells. *J. Immunol.*, **165**, 888–895.

Colcher, D., Bird, R., Roselli, M., Hardman, K.D., Johnson, S., Pope, S., Dodd, S.W., Pantoliano, M.W., Milenic, D.E. and Schlom, J. 1990. In vivo tumor targeting of a recombinant single-chain antigen-binding protein. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.*, **82**, 1191–1197.

Colcher, D., Pavlinkova, G., Beresford, G., Booth, B.J.M., Choudhury, A. and Batra, S.K. 1998. Pharmacokonetics and biodistribution of genetically-engineered antibodies. *Q. J. Nucl. Med.*, **43**, 225–241.

Cooper, M.A., Try, A.C., Carroll, J., Ellar, D.J. and Williams, D.H. 1998. Surface plasmon resonance analysis at a supported lipid monolayer. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, **1373**, 101–111. Crystal, R.G. 1995. Transfer of genes to humans: early lessons and obstacles to success. *Science*, **270**, 404–410.

Daugherty, P.S., Chen, G., Olsen, M.J., Iverson, B.L. and Georgiou, G. 1998. Antibody affinity maturation using bacterial surface display. *Protein Eng.*, **11**, 825–832.

Daugherty, P.S., Olsen, M.J., Iverson, B.L. and Georgiou, G. 1999. Development of an optimized expression system for the screening of antibody libraries displayed on the *Escherichia coli* surface. *Protein Eng.*, **12**, 613–621.

Davies, A.C. and Schulman, M.J. 1989. IgM-Molecular requirements for its assembly and function. *Immunol. Today*, **10**, 118–128.

de Haard, H.J., van Neer, N., Reurs, A., Hufton, S.E., Roovers, R.C., Henderikx, P., de Bruïne, A.P., Arends, J.-W. and Hoogenboom, H.R. 1999. A large nonimmunized human Fab fragment phage library that permits rapid isolation and kinetic analysis of high affinity antibodies. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **274**, 18218–18230.

de Jonge, J., Brissinck, J., Heirman, C., Demanet, C., Leo, O., Moser, M. and Thielemans, K. 1995. Production and characterization of bispecific single-chain atibody fragments. *Mol. Immunol.*, **32**, 1405–1412.

de Jonge, J., Heirman, C., de Veerman, M., van Meirvenne, S., Moser, M., Leo, O. and Thielemans, K. 1998. In vivo retargeting of T cell effector function by recombinant bispecific single chain Fv (anti-CD3 x anti-idiotype) induces long-term survival in the murine BCL1 lymphoma model. *J. Immunol.*, **161**, 1454–1461.

de Kruif, J., Terstappen, L., Boel, E. and Logtenberg, T. 1995. Rapid selection of cell subpopulation-specific human monoclonal antibodies from a synthetic phage antibody library. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **92**, 3938–3942.

de Kruif, J., Storm, G., van Bloois, L. and Logtenberg, T. 1996. Biosynthetically lipid-modified human scFv fragments from phage display libraries as targeting molecules for immunoliposomes. *FEBS Letters*, **399**, 232–236.

de Menezes, D.E.L., Pilarski, L.M. and Allen, T.M. 1998. *In vitro* and *in vivo* targeting of immunoliposomal doxorubicin to human B-cell lymphoma. *Cancer Res.*, **58**, 3320–3330.

Desplancq, D., King, D.J., Lawson, A.D.G. and Mountain, A. 1994. Multimerization behaviour of single chain Fv variants for the tumor-binding antibody B72.3. *Protein Eng.*, **7**, 1027–1033.

Dolezal, O., Pearce, L.A., Lawrence, L.J., McCoy, A.J., Hudson, P.J. and Kortt, A.A. 2000. ScFv multimers of the anti-neuraminidase antibody NC10: shortening of the linker in single-chain Fv fragment assembled in  $V_L$  to  $V_H$  orientation drives the formation of dimers, trimers, tetramers and higher molecular mass multimers. *Protein Eng*, **13**, 565–574.

Dorai, H., McCartney, J.E., Hudziak, R.M., Tai, M.-S., Laminet, A.A., Houston, L.L., Huston, J.S. and Oppermann, H. 1994. Mammalian cell expression of single-chain Fv (sFv) antibody proteins and their C-terminal fusions with interleukin-2 and other effector domains *Bio/Technology*, **12**, 890–897.

Duenas, M., Malmborg, A.-C., Casalvilla, R., Ohlin, M. and Borrebaeck, C.A.K., 1996. Selection of phage displayed antibodies based on kinetic constants. *Mol. Immunol.*, **33**, 279–285.

Edqvist, J., Keränen, S., Penttilä, M., Stråby, K.B. and Knowles, J.K.C. 1991. Production of functional IgM Fab fragments by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *J. Biotechnol.*, **20**, 291–300.

Eisen, H.N. 1964. Determination of antibody affinity for haptens and antigens by means of fluorescence quenching. In: Eisen, H.N. (ed.) *Methods in Medical Research*, Vol. X. Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago. Pp. 115–121.

Emanuel, P.A., Dang, J., Gebhardt, J.S., Aldrich, J., Garber, E.A.E., Kulaga, H., Stopa, P., Valdes, J.J. and Dion-Schultz, A. 2000. Recombinant antibodies: a new reagent for biological agent detection. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, **14**, 751–759.

Erb, E.-M., Chen, X., Allen, S., Roberts, C.J., Tendler, S.J.B., Davies, M.C. and Forsén, S. 2000. Characterization of the surfaces generated by liposome binding to the modified dextran matrix of a surface plasmon resonance sensor chip. *Anal. Biochem.*, **280**, 29–35.

Eriksson, S., Vehniäinen, M., Jansén, T., Meretoja, V., Saviranta, P., Petterson, K. and Lövgren, T. 2000. Dual-label time-resolved immunofluorometric assay of free and total prostate-specific antigen based on recombinant Fab fragments. *Clin. Chem.*, **46**, 658–666.

Ernst, W.J., Grabherr, R.M. and Katinger, H.W.D. 1994. Direct cloning into the *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus for generation of recombinant baculoviruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **22**, 2855–2856.

Ernst, W.J., Grabherr, R., Wegner, D., Borth, N., Grassauer, A. and Katinger, H. 1998. Baculovirus surface display: construction and screening of a eukaryotic epitope library. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **26**, 1718–1723.

Ernst, W.J., Spenger, A., Toellner, L., Katinger, H. and Grabherr, R.M. 2000. Expanding baculovirus surface display: modification of the native coat protein gp64 of *Autographa californica* NPV. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **267**, 4033–4039.

Fields, B.A., Goldbaum, F.A., Dall'Acqua, W., Malchiodi, E.L., Cauerhff, A., Schwarz, F.P., Ysern, X., Poljak, R.J. and Mariuzza, R.A. 1996. Hydrogen bonding and solvent structure in an antigen-antibody interface. Crystal structures and thermodynamic characterization of three Fv mutants complexed with lysozyme. *Biochemistry*, **35**, 15494–15503.

Forrer, P., Jung, S. and Plückthun, A. 1999. Beyond binding: using phage display to select for structure, folding and enzymatic activity in proteins. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.*, **9**, 514–520.

Francisco, J.A., Campbell, R., Iverson, B.L. and Georgiou, G. 1993. Production and fluorescence-activated cell sorting of *Escherichia coli* expressing a functional antibody fragment on the external surface. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **90**, 10444–10448.

Freund, C., Ross, A., Guth, B., Plückthun, A. and Holak, T.A. 1993. Characterization of the linker peptide of the single-chain Fv fragment of an antibody by NMR spectroscopy. *FEBS Letters*, **320**, 97–100.

Friquet, B., Chaffotte, A.F., Djavadi-Ohaniance, L. and Goldberg, M.E. 1985. Measurements of the true affinity constant in solution of antigen-antibody complexes by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **77**, 305–319.

Fuchs, P., Breitling, F., Dübel, S., Seehaus, T. and Little, M. 1991. Targeting recombinant antibodies to the surface of *Escherichia coli*: fusion to a peptidoglycan associated lipoprotein. *Bio/Technology*, **9**, 1369–1372.

Gandecha, A.R., Owen, M.R.L., Cockburn, B. and Whitelam, G.C. 1992. Production and secretion of a bifunctional staphylococcal protein A::antiphytochrome single-chain Fv fusion protein in *Escherichia coli*. *Gene*, **122**, 361–365.

Georgiou, G., Stathopoulos, C., Daugherty, P.S., Nayak, A.R., Iverson, B.L. and Curtiss, R. III, 1997. Display of heterologous proteins on the surface of microorganisms: from the screening of combinatorial libraries to live recombinant vaccines. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **15**, 29–34.

Glaser, R.W. 1993. Antigen-antibody binding and mass transport by convection and diffusion to a surface: a two dimensional computer model of binding and dissociation kinetics. *Anal. Biochem.*, **213**, 152–161.

Glennie, M.J. and Johnson, P.W.M. 2000. Clinical trials of antibody therapy. *Immunol. Today*, **21**, 403–410.

Glockshuber, R., Malia, M., Pfitzinger, I. and Plückthun, A. 1990. A comparison of strategies to stabilize immunoglobulin Fv-fragments. *Biochemistry*, **29**, 1362–1367.

Goyal, A. and Batra, J.K. 2000. Inclusion of a furin-sensitive spacer enhances the cytotoxicity of ribotoxin restrictocin containing recombinant single-chain immunotoxins. *Biochem. J.*, **345**, 247–254.

Grabherr, R., Ernst, W., Doblhoff-Dier, O., Sara, M. and Katinger, H. 1997. Expression of foreign proteins on the surface of *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus. *BioTechniques*, **22**, 730–735.

Gregoriadis, G. and Neerunjun, E.D. 1975. Homing of liposomes to target cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **65**, 537–544.

Gregoriadis, G. 1995. Engineering liposomes for drug delivery: progress and problems. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **13**, 527–537.

Griffiths, A.D., Malmqvist, M., Marks, J.D., Bye, J.M., Embleton, M.J., McCafferty, J., Baier, M., Holliger, K.P., Gorick, B.D., Hughes-Jones, N.C. *et al.*, 1993. Human anti-self antibodies with high specificity from phage display libraries. *EMBO J.*, **12**, 725–734.

Griffiths, A.D., Williams, S.C., Hartley, O., Tomlinson, I.M., Waterhouse, P., Crosby, W.L., Kontermann, R.E., Jones, P.T., Low, N.M., Allison, T.J. *et al.* 1994. Isolation of high affinity human antibodies directly from large synthetic repertoires. *EMBO J.*, **13**, 3245–3260.

Gruber, M., Schodin, B.A., Wilson, E.R. and Kranz, D.M. 1994. Efficient tumor cell lysis mediated by a bispecific single chain antibody expressed in *E. coli. J. Immunol.*, **152**, 5368–5374.

Hanes, J. and Plückthun, A. 1997. *In vitro* selection and evolution of functional proteins by using ribosome display. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **94**, 4937–4942.

Hanes, J., Jermutus, L., Weber-Bornhauser, S., Bosshard, H.R. and Plückthun, A. 1998. Ribosome display efficiently selects and evolves high-affinity antibodies *in vitro* from immune libraries. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **95**, 14130–14135.

Hanes, J., Schaffitzel, C., Knappik, A. and Plückthun, A. 2000. Picomolar affinity antibodies from a fully synthetic naive library selected and evolved by ribosome display. *Nature*, **18**, 1287–1292.

Harris, L.J., Larson, S.B., Hasel, K.W. and McPherson, A. 1997. Refined structure of an intact IgG2a monoclonal antibody. *Biochemistry*, **36**, 1581–1597.

Harris, L.J., Skaletsky, E. and McPherson, A. 1998. Crystallographic structure of an intact IgG1 monoclonal antibody. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **275**, 861–872.

Harrison, B.A., MacKenzie, R., Hirama, T., Lee, K.K. and Altman, E. 1998. A kinetics approach to the characterization of an IgM specific for the glycolipid asialo-GM1. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **212**, 29–39.

Hawkins, R.E., Russell, S.J. and Winter, G. 1992. Selection of phage antibodies by binding affinity. Mimicking affinity maturation. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **226**, 889–896.

Hay, B.N., Sorge, J.A. and Shopes, B. 1992. Bacteriophage cloning and *Escherichia coli* expression of human IgM Fab. *Hum. Antib. Hybridomas*, **3**, 81–85.

Heath, T.D., Macher, B.A. and Papahadjopoulos, D. 1981. Covalent attachment of immunoglobulins to liposomes via glycosphingolipids. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **640**, 66–81.

Hemminki, A., Hoffrén, A.-M., Takkinen, K., Vehniäinen, M., Mäkinen, M.-L., Pettersson, K., Teleman, O., Söderlund, H. and Teeri, T.T. 1995. Introduction of lysine residues on the light chain constant domain improves the labelling properties of a recombinant Fab fragment. *Protein Eng.*, **8**, 185–191.

Hemminki, A., Niemi, S., Hoffrén, A.-M., Hakalahti, L., Söderlund, H. and Takkinen, K. 1998a. Specificity improvement of a recombinant anti-testosterone Fab fragment by DCRIII mutagenesis and phage display selection. *Protein Eng.*, **11**, 311–319.

Hemminki, A., Niemi, S., Hautoniemi, L., Söderlund, H. and Takkinen, K. 1998b. Fine tuning of an anti-testosterone antibody binding site by stepwise optimisation of the CDRs. *Immunotechnology*, **4**, 59–69.

Hennecke, F., Krebber, C. and Plückthun, A. 1998. Non-repetitive single-chain Fv linkers selected by selectively infective phage (SIP) technology. *Protein Eng.*, **11**, 405–410.

Hochman, J., Inbar, D. and Givol, D. 1973. An active antibody fragment (Fv) composed of the variable portions of the heavy and light chains. *Biochemistry*, **12**, 1130–1135.

Hoffrén, A.-M., Holm, L., Laaksonen, L., Teeri, T. and Teleman, O. 1992. Molecular dynamics simulations of hapten binding to structural models of 2phenyloxazolone antibodies. *ImmunoMethods*, **1**, 80–90.

Hofmann, C., Sandig, V., Jennings, G., Rudolph, M., Schlag, P. and Strauss, M. 1995. Efficient gene transfer into human hepatocytes by baculovirus vectors. *Proc.Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **92**, 10099–10103.

Holliger, P., Prospero, T. and Winter, G. 1993. "Diabodies": small bivalent and bispecific antibody fragments. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **90**, 6444–6448.

Holliger, P., Brissinck, J., Williams, R.L., Thielemans, K. and Winter, G. 1996. Specific killing of lymphoma cells by cytotoxic T-cells mediated by a bispecific diabody. *Protein Eng.*, **9**, 299–305.

Holliger, P., Manzke, O., Span, M., Hawkins, R., Fleischmann, B., Qinghua, L., Wolf, J., Diehl, V., Cochet, O., Winter, G. and Bohlen, H. 1999. Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)-specific T-cell activation in colon carcinoma induced by anti-CD3xanti-CEA bispecific diabodies and B7xanti-CEA bispecific fusion proteins. *Cancer Res.*, **59**, 2909–2916.

Holm, L., Laaksonen, L., Kaartinen, M., Teeri, T.T. and Knowles, J.K.C. 1990. Molecular modelling study of antigen binding to oxazolone-specific antibodies: the Ox1 idiotypic IgG and its mature variant with increased affinity to 2phenyloxazolone. *Protein Eng.*, **3**, 403–409.

Holt, L.J., Enever, C., de Wildt, R.M.T. and Tomlinson, I.M. 2000. The use of recombinant antibodies in proteomics. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **11**, 445–449.

Hoogenboom, H.R., Griffiths, A.D., Johnson, K.S., Chriswell, D.J., Hudson, P. and Winter, G. 1991. Multi-subunit proteins on the surface of filamentous phage: methodologies for displaying antibody (Fab) heavy and light chains. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **19**, 4133–4137.

Hoogenboom, H.R., Marks, J.D., Griffiths, A.D. and Winter, G. 1992. Building antibodies from their genes. *Immunol. Rev.*, **130**, 41–68.

Hoogenboom, H.R. and Winter, G. 1992. By-passing immunization. Human antibodies from synthetic repertoires of germline  $V_H$  gene segments rearranged *in vitro*. J. Mol. Biol., **227**, 381–388.

Hoogenboom, H.R., de Bruine, A.P., Hufton, S.E., Hoet, R.M., Arends, J.-W. and Roovers, R.C. 1998. Antibody phage display technology and its applications. *Immunotechnology*, **4**, 1–20.

Hoogenboom, H.R. and Chames, P. 2000. Natural and designer binding sites made by phage display technology. *Immunol. Today*, **21**, 371–378.

Horn, U., Strittmatter, W., Krebber, A., Knüpfer, U., Kujau, M., Wenderoth, R., Müller, K., Matzku, S., Plückthun, A. and Riesenberg, D. 1996. High volumetric yields of functional dimeric miniantibodies in *Escherichia coli*, using an optimized expression vector and high-cell-density fermentation under non-limited growth conditions. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **46**, 524–532.

Horwitz, A.H., Chang, C.P., Better, M., Hellstrom, K.E. and Robinson, R.R. 1988. Secretion of functional antibody and Fab fragment from yeast cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **85**, 8678–8682.

Hu, S., Shively, L., Raubitschek, A., Sherman, M., Williams, L.E., Wong, J.Y.C., Shively, J.E. and Wu, A.M. 1996. Minibody: a novel engineered anticarcinoembryonic antigen antibody fragment (single-chain  $Fv-C_H3$ ) which exhibits rapid, high-level targeting of xenografts. *Cancer Res.*, **56**, 3055–3061.

Hudson, P.J. 1998. Recombinant antibody fragments. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **9**, 395–402.

Hudson, P.J. 1999. Recombinant antibody constructs in cancer therapy. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.*, **11**, 548–557.

Hudson, P. J. and Kortt., A.A. 1999. High avidity scFv multimers: diabodies and triabodies. *J. Immunol. Methods.*, **231**, 177–189.

Hunte, C., Koepke, J., Lange, C., Roßmanith, T. and Michel, H. 2000. Structure at 2.3Å resolution of the cytochrome  $bc_1$  complex from the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* co-crystallized with an antibody Fv fragment. *Structure*, **8**, 669–684.

Huston, J.S., Levison, D., Mudgett-Hunter, M., Tai, M.-S., Novothy, J., Margolies, M.N., Ridge, R.J., Bruccoleri, R.E., Haber, E., Crea, R. and Oppermann, H. 1988. Protein engineering of antibody binding sites: recovery of specific activity in an anti-dixoxin single-chain Fv analogue produced in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **85**, 5879–5883.

Huston, J.S., Mudgett-Hunter, M., Tai, M.-S., McCartney, J., Warren, F., Haber, E. and Oppermann, H. 1991. Protein engineering of single-chain Fv analogs and fusion proteins. *Methods Enzymol.*, **203**, 46–98.

Huston, J.S., George, A.J.T., Tai, M.-S., McCartney, J.E., Jin, D., Segal, D.M., Keck, P. and Oppermann, H. 1995. Single-chain Fv design and production by preparative folding. *Antibody engineering*. Borrebaeck, C. A (ed.), Oxford University Press, New York. Pp. 185–227.

Iliades, P., Kortt, A.A. and Hudson, P.J. 1997. Triabodies: single chain Fv fragments without a linker form trivalent trimers. *FEBS Lett.*, **409**, 437–441.

Ishida, T., Iden, D.L. and Allen, T.M. 1999. A combinatorial approach to producing sterically stabilized (Stealth) immunoliposomal drugs. *FEBS Letters*, **460**, 129–133.

Iwata, S., Ostermeier, C., Ludwig, B. and Michel, H. 1995. Structure at 2.8 Å resolution of cytochrome c oxidase from *Paracoccus denitrificans*. *Nature*, **376**, 660–669.

Jakobovits, A. 1995. Production of fully human antibodies by transgenic mice. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **6**, 561–566.

Jahn, S., Roggenbuck, D., Niemann, B. and Ward, E.S. 1995. Expression of monovalent fragments derived from a human IgM autoantibody in *E. coli*. The input of the somatically mutated CDR1/CDR2 and of the CDR3 into antigen binding specificity. *Immunobiology*, **193**, 400–419.

James, K. and Bell, G.T. 1987. Human monoclonal antibody production: current status and future prospects. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **100**, 5–40.

Jones, P.T., Dear, P.H., Foote, J., Neuberger, M.S. and Winter, G. 1986. Replacing the complementary-determining regions in a human antibody with those from a mouse. *Nature*, **321**, 522–525.

Jung, S., Honegger, A. and Plückthun, A. 1999. Selection for improved protein stability by phage display. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **294**, 163–180.

Jäger, M. and Plückthun, A. 1999. Domain interactions in antibody Fv and scFv fragments: effects on unfolding kinetics and equilibria. *FEBS Letters*, **462**, 307–312.

Kaartinen, M., Griffiths, G.M., Markham, A.F. and Milstein, C. 1983. mRNA sequences define an unusually restricted IgG response to 2-phenyloxazolone and its early diversification. *Nature*, **304**, 320–324.

Kang, A.S., Barbas, C.F., Janda, K.D., Benkovic, S.J. and Lerner, R.A. 1991. Linkage of recognition and replication functions by assembling combinatorial antibody Fab libraries along phage surfaces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **88**, 4363–4366.

Karpovsky, B., Titus, J.A., Stephany, D.A. and Segal, D.M. 1984. Production of target-specific effector cells using hetero-cross-linked aggregates containing anti-target cell and anti-Fcγ receptor antibodies. *J. Exp. Med.*, **160**, 1686–1701.

Kato, K., Umeda, U., Suzuki, F., Hayashi, D. and Kosaka, A. 1979. Use of antibody Fab' fragments to remove interference by rheimatoid factors with the enzyme-linked sandwich immunoassay. *FEBS Letters*, **102**, 253–256.

Kerschbaumer, R.J., Hirschl, S., Kaufmann, A., Ibl, M., Koenig, R. and Himmler, G. 1997. Single-chain Fv fusion proteins suitable as coating and detecting reagents in a double antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *Anal. Chem.*, **249**, 219–227.

Kieke, M.C., Cho, B.K., Boder, E.T., Kranz, D.M. and Wittrup, K.D. 1997. Isolation of anti-T cell receptor scFv mutants by yeast surface display. *Protein Eng.*, **10**, 1303–1310.

Kipriyanov, S.M., Little, M., Kropshofer, H., Breitling, F., Gotter, S. and Dübel, S. 1996. Affinity enhancement of a recombinant antibody: formation of complexes with multiple valency by a single-chain Fv fragment-core streptavidin fusion. *Protein Eng.*, **9**, 203–211.

Kleymann, G., Ostermeier, C., Ludwig, B., Skerra, A. and Michel, H. 1995. Engineered Fv fragments as a tool for the one-step purification of integral multisubunit membrane protein complexes. *Bio/Technology*, **13**, 155–160.

Klimka, A., Barth, S., Matthey, B., Roovers, R.C., Lemke, H., Hansen, H., Arends, J.-W., Diehl, V., Hoogenboom, H.R. and Engert, A. 1999. An anti-CD30 single-chain Fv selected by phage display and fused to *Pseudomonas* exotoxin A (Ki-4(scFv)-ETA<sup>^</sup>) is a potent immunotoxin against a Hodgkinderived cell line. *Brit. J. Cancer*, **80**, 1214–1222.

Knappik, A. and Plückthun, A. 1995. Engineering turns of a recombinant antibody improve its *in vivo* folding. *Protein Eng.*, **8**, 81–89.

Kobatake, E., Sasakura, H., Haruyama, T., Laukkanen, M.-L., Keinänen, K. and Aizawa, M. 1997. A fluoroimmunoassay based on immunoliposomes containing genetically engineered lipid-tagged antibody. *Anal. Chem.*, **69**, 1295–1298.

Konishi, H., Ochiya, T., Chester, K.A., Begent, R.H.J., Muto, T., Sugimura, T. and Terada, M. 1998. Targeting strategy for gene delivery to carcinoembryonic

antigen-producing cancer cells by retrovirus displaying a single-chain variable fragment antibody. *Hum. Gene Ther.*, **9**, 235–248.

Kontermann, R.E., Martineau, P., Cummings, C.E., Karpas, A., Allen, D., Derbyshire, E. and Winter, G. 1997. Enzyme immunoassays using bispecific diabodies. *Immunotechnology*, **3**, 137–144.

Kortt, A.A., Lah, M., Oddie, G.W., Gruen, C.L., Burns, J.E., Pearce, L.A., Atwell, J.L., McCoy, A.J., Howlett, G.J., Metzger, D.W., *et al.*, 1997. Single-chain Fv fragments of anti-neuramidase antibody NC10 containing five- and tenresidue linkers form dimers and with zero-residue linker a trimer. *Protein Eng.*, **10**, 423–433.

Kost, T.A. and Condreay, J.P. 1999. Recombinant baculoviruses as expression vectors for insect and mammalian cells. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **10**, 428–433.

Kratz, P.A., Böttcher, B. and Nassal, M. 1999. Native display of complete foreign protein domains on the surface of hepatitis B virus capsids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **96**, 1915–1920.

Krebber, C., Spada, S., Desplancq, D. and Plückthun, A. 1995. Co-selection of cognate antibody-antigen pairs by selectively-infective phages. *FEBS Letters*, **377**, 227–231.

Kreitman, R.J., Bailon, P., Chaudhary, V.K., FitzGerald, D.J.P. and Pastan, I. 1994. Recombinant immunotoxins containing anti-Tac(Fv) and derivatives of *Pseudomonas* exotoxin produce complete regression in mice of an interleukin-2 receptor-expressing human carcinoma. *Blood*, **83**, 426–434.

Kreitman, R.J. 1999. Immunotoxins in cancer therapy. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.*, **11**, 570–578.

Kuusinen, A., Arvola, M., Oker-Blom, C. and Keinänen, K. 1995. Purification of recombinant GLUR-D glutamate receptor produced in Sf21 insect cells. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **233**, 720–726.

Köhler, G. and Milstein, C. 1975. Continuous culture of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature*, **256**, 495–497.

Laemmli, U.K. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of the bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, **227**, 680–685.

Laukkanen, M.-L., Teeri, T.T. and Keinänen, K. 1993. Lipid-tagged antibodies: bacterial expression and characterization of a lipoprotein-single-chain antibody fusion. *Protein Eng.*, **6**, 449–454.

Laukkanen, M.-L., Orellana, A. and Keinänen, K. 1995. Use of genetically engineered lipid-tagged antibody to generate functional europium chelate-loaded liposomes. Application in fluoroimmunoassay. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **185**, 95–102.

Lawrence, L.J., Kortt, A.A., Iliades, P., Tulloch, P.A. and Hudson, P. 1998. Orientation of antigen binding sites in dimeric and trimeric single chain Fv antibody fragments. *FEBS Lett.*, **425**, 479–484.

Le Gall, F., Kipriyanov, S.M., Moldenhauer, G. and Little, M. 1999. Di-, tri- and tetrameric single chain Fv antibody fragments against human CD19: effect of valency on cell binding. *FEBS Lett.*, **453**, 164–168.

Lei, S.-P., Lin, H.-C., Wang, S.-S., Callaway, J. and Wilcox, G. 1987. Characterization of the *Erwinia carotovora pel*B gene and its product pectate lyase. *J. Bacteriol.*, **169**, 4379–4383.

Leserman, L.D., Barbet, J. and Kourilsky, F. 1980. Targeting to cells of fluorescent liposomes covalently coupled with monoclonal antibody or protein A. *Nature*, **288**, 602–604.

Li, M. 2000. Applications of display technology in protein analysis. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **18**, 1251–1256.

Linder, M., Nevanen, T., Söderholm, L., Begns, O. and Teeri, T.T. 1998. Improved immobilization of fusion proteins via cellulose-binding domains. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **60**, 642–647. Lindley, K.M., Su, J.-L., Hodges, P.K., Wisely, G.B., Bledsoe, R.K., Condreay, J.P., Winegar, D.A., Hutchins, J.T. and Kost, T.A. 2000. Production of monoclonal antibodies using recombinant baculovirus displaying gp64-fusion proteins. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **234**, 123–135.

Lindner, P., Bauer, K., Krebber, A., Nieba, L., Kremmer, E., Krebber, C., Honegger, A., Klinger, B., Mocikat, R. and Plückthun, A. 1997. Specific detection of his-tagged proteins with recombinant anti-his tag scFv-phosphatase or scFv-phage fusions. *BioTechniques*, **22**, 140–149.

Little, M., Kipriyanov, S.M., Le Gall, F. and Moldenhauer, G. 2000. Of mice and men: hybridoma and recombinant antibodies. *Immunol. Today*, **21**, 364–370.

London, S.D., Schmaljohn, A.L., Dalrymple, J.M. and Rice, C.M. 1992. Infectious enveloped RNA virus antigenic chimeras. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **89**, 207–211.

Loughrey, H., Bally, M.B. and Cullis, P.R. 1987. A non-covalent method of attaching antibodies to liposomes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **901**, 157–160.

MacKenzie, C.R., Sharma, V., Brummell, D., Bilous, D., Dubuc, G., Sadowska, J., Young, M., Bundle, D.R. and Narang, S.A. 1994. Effect of  $C_{\lambda}$ - $C_{\kappa}$  domain switching on Fab activity and yield in *Escherichia coli*: synthesis and expression of genes encoding two anti-carbohydrate Fabs. *Bio/Technology*, **12**, 390–395.

MacKenzie, C.R., Hirama, T., Lee, K.K., Altman, E. and Young, M. 1997. Quantitative analysis of bacterial toxin affinity and specificity for glycolipid receptors by surface plasmon resonance. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **272**, 5533–5538.

MacKenzie, R. and To, R. 1998. The role of valency in the selection of anticarbohydrate single-chain Fvs from phage display libraries. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **220**, 39–49.

Malby, R.L., Caldwell, J.B., Gruen, L.C., Harley, V.R., Ivancic, N., Kortt, A.A., Lilley, G.G., Power, B.E., Webster, R.G., Colman, P.M. and Hudson, P.J. 1993. Recombinant antineuraminidase single chain antibody: expression,

characterization, and crystallization in complex with antigen. *Proteins*, **16**, 57–63.

Malby, R.L., McCoy, A.J., Kortt, A.A., Hudson, P.J. and Colman, P.M. 1998. Three-dimensional structures of single-chain Fv-neuraminidase complexes. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **279**, 901–910.

Mallender, W.D. and Voss, E.W. Jr. 1994. Construction, expression and activity of a bivalent bispecific single-chain antibody. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **269**, 199–206.

Malmborg, A.-C., Duenas, M., Ohlin, M., Söderlind, E. and Borrebaeck, C.A.K. 1996. Selection of binders from phage displayed antibody libraries using BIAcore<sup>™</sup> biosensor. J. Immunol. Methods, **198**, 51–57.

Malmqvist, M. 1999. BIACORE: an affinity biosensor system for characterization of biomolecular interactions. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **27**, 335–340.

Manzke, O., Fitzgerald, K.J., Holliger, P., Klock, J., Span, M., Fleischmann, B., Hescheler, J., Qinghua, L., Johnson, K.S., Diehl, V., Hoogenboom, H. R. and Bohlen, H. 1999. CD3 x anti-nitrophenyl bispecific diabodies: universal immunotherapeutic tools for retargeting T cells to tumors. *Int. J. Cancer*, **82**, 700–708.

Mao, S., Gao, C., Lo, C.-H. L., Wirsching, P., Wong, C.-H. and Janda, K.D. 1999. Phage-display library selection of high affinity human single-chain antibodies to tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens sialyl Lewis<sup>x</sup> and Lewis<sup>x</sup>. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **96**, 6953–6958.

Marks, J.D., Hoogenboom, H.R., Bonnert, T.P., McCafferty, J., Griffiths, A.D. and Winter, G. 1991. By-passing immunization. Human antibodies from V-gene libraries displayed on phage. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **222**, 581–597.

Marks, J.D., Griffiths, A.D., Malmqvist, M., Clackson, T.P., Bye, J.M. and Winter, G. 1992. By-passing immunization: building high affinity human antibodies by chain shuffling. *Bio/Technology*, **10**, 779–783.

Marks, J.D., Ouwehand, W.H., Bye, J.M., Finnern, R., Gorick, B.D., Voak. D., Thorpe, S.J., Hughes-Jones, N.C. and Winter, G. 1993. Human antibody fragments specific for human blood group antigens from a phage display library. *Bio/Technology*, **11**, 1145–1149.

Martin, F.J., Hubbell, W.L. and Papahadjopoulos, D. 1981. Immunospecific targeting of liposomes to cells: a novel and efficient method for covalent attachment of Fab´ fragments via disulfide bonds. *Biochemistry*, **20**, 4229–4238.

Maruyama, K., Takizawa, T., Yuda, T., Kennel, S.J., Huang, L. and Iwatsuru, M. 1995. Targetability of novel immunoliposomes modified with amphipathic poly(ethylene glycol)s conjugated at their distal terminals to monoclonal antibodies. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1234**, 74–80.

Masson, L., Mazza, A. and Brousseau, R. 1994. Stable immobilization of lipid vesicles for kinetic studies using surface plasmon resonance. *Anal. Biochem.*, **218**, 405–412.

McCafferty, J., Griffiths, A.D., Winter, G. and Chiswell, D.J. 1990. Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. *Nature*, **348**, 552–554.

McGuinness, B.T., Walter, G., FitzGerald, K., Schuler, P., Mahoney, W., Duncan, A.R. and Hoogenboom, H.R. 1996. Phage diabody repertoires for selection of large numbers of bispecific antibody fragments. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **14**, 1149–1154.

McManus, S. and Riechmann, L. 1991. Use of 2D NMR, protein engineering, and molecular modeling to study the hapten-binding site of an antibody Fv fragment against 2-phenyloxazolone. *Biochemistry*, **30**, 5851–5857.

Miletic, V.D. and Frank, M.M. 1995. Complement-immunoglobulin interactions. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.*, **7**, 41–47.

Milstein, C. and Cuello, A.C. 1983. Hybrid hybridomas and their use in immunohistochemistry. *Nature*, **305**, 537–540.

Monroe, D. 1990. Novel liposome immunoassays for detecting antigens, antibodies, and haptens. *J. Liposome Res.*, **1**, 339–377.

Monsma, S.A. and Blissard, G.W. 1995. Identification of a membrane fusion domain and an oligomerization domain in the baculovirus gp64 envelope fusion protein. *J. Virol.*, **69**, 2583–2595.

Monsma, S.A., Oomens, A.G.P. and Blissard, G.W. 1996. The gp64 envelope fusion protein is an essential baculovirus protein required for cell-to-cell transmission of infection. *J. Virol.*, **70**, 4607–4616.

Morrison, S.L., Johnson, M.J., Herzenberg, L.A. and Oi, V.T. 1984. Chimeric human antibody molecules: mouse antigen-binding domains with human constant region domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **81**, 6851–6855.

Morrison, S.L. 1992. In vitro antibodies: Strategies for production and application. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, **10**, 239–265.

Mottershead, D., van den Linden, I., von Bonsdorff, C.-H., Keinänen, K. and Oker-Blom, C. 1997. Baculoviral display of the green fluorescent protein and rubella virus envelope proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **238**, 717–722.

Muraoka, S. and Shulman, M.J. 1989. Structural requirements for IgM assembly and cytolytic activity. *J. Immunol.*, **142**, 695–701.

Myszka, D.G. 1997. Kinetic analysis of macromolecular interactions using surface plasmon resonance biosensors. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **8**, 50–57.

Myszka, D.G. and Rich, R.L. 2000. Implementing surface plasmon resonance biosensors in drug discovery. *Pharm. Sci. Technol. Today*, **3**, 310–317.

Müller, J.D., Nienhaus, G.U., Tetin, S.Y. and Voss, E.W. 1994. Ligand binding to anti-fluorescyl antibodies: stability of the antigen binding site. *Biochemistry*, **33**, 6221–6227.

Müller, K.M., Arndt, K.M., Strittmatter, W. and Plückthun, A. 1998a. The first constant domain ( $C_H1$  and  $C_L$ ) of an antibody used as heterodimerization domain for bispecific miniantibodies. *FEBS Letters*, **422**, 259–264.

Müller, K.M., Arndt, K.M. and Plückthun, A. 1998b. A dimeric bispecific miniantibody combines two specificites with avidity. *FEBS Letters*, **432**, 45–49.

Mäkelä, O., Kaartinen, M., Pelkonen, J.L.T. and Karjalainen, K. 1978. Inheritance of antibody specificity V. Anti-2-phenyloxazolone in the mouse. *J. Exp. Med.*, **148**, 1644–1660.

Nagata, K. and Handa, H. 2000. *Real-time analysis of biomolecular interactions*. Springer-Verlag, Tokio, Japan. Pp. 87–172.

Nelson, R.W., Jarvik, J.W., Taillon, B.E. and Tubbs, K.A. 1999. BIA/MS of epitope-tagged peptides directly from *E. coli* lysate: multicomplex detection and protein identification at low-femtomole to subfemtomole levels. *Anal. Chem.*, **71**, 2858–2865.

Neri, D., Carnemolla, B., Nissim, A., Leprini, A., Querze, G., Balza, E., Pini, A., Tarli, L., Halin, C., Neri, P., Zardi, L. and Winter, G. 1997. Targeting by affinity-maturated recombinant antibody fragments of an angiogenesis associated fibronectin isoform. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **15**, 1271–1275.

New, R.R.C. 1992. Preparation of liposomes. *Liposomes, a practical approach*. New, R.R.C. (ed.). Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K. Pp. 33–104.

Nieba, L., Krebber, A. and Plückthun, A. 1996. Competition BIAcore for measurement true affinities: large differences from values determined from binding kinetics. *Anal. Biochem.*, **234**, 155–165.

Nieba, L. Honegger, A., Krebber, C. and Plückthun, A. 1997. Disrupting the hydrophobic pathes at the antibody variable/constant domain interface:

improved *in vivo* folding and physical characterization of an engineered scFv fragment. *Protein Eng.*, **10**, 435–444.

Nissim, A., Hoogenboom, H.R., Tomlinson, I.M., Flynn, G., Midgley, C., Lane, D. and Winter, G. 1994. Antibody fragments from a "single pot" phage display library as immunochemical reagents. *EMBO J.*, **13**, 692–698.

Nose, M. and Wigzell, H. 1983. Biological significance of carbohydrate chains on monoclonal antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **80**, 6632–6636.

Nyyssönen, E., Penttilä, M., Harkki, A., Saloheimo, A., Knowles, J.K.C. and Keränen, S. 1993. Efficient production of antibody fragments by the filamentous fungus *Trichoderma reesei*. *Bio/Technology*, **11**, 591–595.

Oomens, A.G.P., Monsma, S.A. and Blissard, G.W. 1995. The baculovirus gp64 envelope fusion protein: synthesis, oligomerization and processing. *Virology*, **209**, 592–603.

Oomens, A.G.P and Blissard, G.W. 1999. Requirement for gp64 to drive efficient budding of *Autographa californica* multicapsid nucleopolyhedrovirus. *Virology*, **254**, 297–314.

Ostermeier, C., Iwata, S., Ludwig, B. and Michel, H. 1995. Fv fragmentmediated crystallization of the membrane protein bacterial cytochrome c oxidase. *Nat. Struct. Biol.*, **2**, 842–846.

Ostermeier, C., Harrenga, A., Ermler, U. and Michel, H. 1997. Structure at 2.7 Å resolution of the *Paracoccus denitrificans* two-subunit cytochrome c oxidase complexed with an antibody Fv fragment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **94**, 10547–10553.

Owen, M., Gandecha, A., Cockburn, B. and Whitelam, G. 1992. Synthesis of a functional anti-phytochrome single-chain Fv protein in transgenic tobacco. *Bio/Technology*, **10**, 790–794.

Pack, P. and Plückthun, A. 1992. Miniantibodies: use of amphipathic helices to produce functional, flexibly linked dimeric Fv fragments with high avidity in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry*, **31**, 1579–1584.

Pack, P., Kujau, M., Schroeckh, V., Knüpfer, U., Wenderoth, R., Riesenberg, D. and Plückthun, A. 1993. Improved bivalent miniantibodies, with identical avidity as whole antibodies, produced by high cell density fermentation of *Escherichia coli*. *Bio/Technology*, **11**, 1271–1277.

Pack, P., Müller, K., Zahn, R. and Plückthun, A. 1995. Tetravalent miniantibodies with high avidity assembling in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **246**, 28–34.

Pajunen, M., Saviranta, P., Jauria, P., Karp, M., Petterson, K., Mäntsälä, P. and Lövgren, T. 1997. Cloning, sequencing, expression and characterization of three anti-estradiol- $17\beta$  Fab fragments. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, **1351**, 192–202.

Park, J.W., Hong, K., Carter, P., Asgari, H., Guo, L.Y., Keller, G.A., Wirth, C., Shalaby, R., Kotts, C., Wood, W.I., Papahadjopoulos, D. and Benz, C.C. 1995. Development of anti-p185<sup>HER2</sup> immunoliposomes for cancer therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **92**, 1327–1331.

Park, J.W., Hong, K., Kirpotin, D.B., Meyer, O., Papahadjopoulos, D. and Benz, C.C. 1997. Anti-HER2 immunoliposomes for targeted therapy of human tumors. *Cancer Lett.*, **118**, 153–160.

Park, S. and Durst, R.A. 2000. Immunoliposome sandwich assay for the detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Anal. Biochem.*, **280**, 151–158.

Parsell, D.A. and Sauer, R.T. 1989. The structural stability of a protein is an important determinant of its proteolytic susceptibility in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **264**, 7590–7595.

Pei, X.Y., Holliger, P., Murzin, A.G. and Williams, R.L. 1997. The 2.0-Å resolution crystal structure of a trimeric antibody fragment with noncognate  $V_{H}$ - $V_{L}$  domain pairs shows a rearrangement of  $V_{H}$  CDR3. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **94**, 9637–9642.

Perisic, O., Webb, P.A., Holliger, P., Winter, G. and Williams, R.L. 1994. Crystal structure of a diabody, a bivalent antibody fragment. *Structure*, **2**, 1217–1226.

Persson, M.A.A., Caothien, R.H. and Burton, D.R. 1991. Generation of diverse high-affinity human monoclonal antibodies by repertoire cloning. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **88**, 2432–2436.

Plückthun, A. and Skerra, A. 1988. Expression of functional Fv and Fab fragments in *Escherichia coli*. *Methods Enzymol.*, **178**, 497–515.

Plückthun, A. 1991. Antibody engineering: advances from the use of *Escherichia coli* expression systems. *Bio/Technology*, **9**, 545–551.

Plückthun, A. 1992. Mono- and bivalent antibody fragments produced in *Escherichia coli*: engineering, folding and antigen binding. *Immunol. Rev.*, **192**, 151–187.

Plückthun, A. and Pack, P. 1997. New protein engineering approaches to multivalent and bispecific antibody fragments. *Immunotechnology*, **3**, 83–105.

Poljak, R.J., Amzel, L.M., Avey, H.P., Chen, B.L., Phizackerley, R.P. and Saul, F. 1973. Three-dimensional structure of the Fab' fragment of a human immunoglobulin at 2.8-Å resolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **70**, 3305–3310.

Pope, A., Pritchard, K., Williams, A., Roberts, A., Hackett, J.R., Mandecki, W. and Johnson, K. S. 1996. In vitro selection of a high affinity antibody to oestradiol using a phage display human antibody library. *Immunotechnology*, **2**, 209–217.

Possee, R.D. 1997. Baculoviruses as expression vectors. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **8**, 569–572.

Power, B.E. and Hudson, P.J. 2000. Synthesis of high avidity fragments (scFv multimers) for cancer imaging. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **242**, 193–204.

Ramm, K. and Plückthun, A. 2000. The periplasmic *Escherichia coli* peptidylprolyl *cis,trans*-isomerase FkpA. II. Isomerase-independent chaperone activity *in vitro*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 17106–17113.

Reinikainen, T., Takkinen, K. and Teeri, T.T. 1997. Comparison of the adsorption properties of a single-chain antibody fragment fused to a fungal or bacterial cellulose-binding domain. *Enz. Microbiol. Technol.*, **20**, 143–149.

Reiter, Y., Brinkmann, U., Lee, B. and Pastan, I. 1996. Engineering antibody Fv fragments for cancer detection and therapy: disulfide-stabilized Fv fragments. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **14**, 1239–1245.

Reiter, Y. and Pastan, I. 1998. Recombinant Fv immunotoxins and Fv fragments as novel agents for cancer therapy and diagnosis. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **16**, 513–520.

Rheinnecker, M., Hardt, C., Ilag, L.L., Kufer, P., Gruber, R., Hoess, A., Lupas, A., Rottenberger, C., Plückthun, A. and Pack, P. 1996. Multivalent antibody fragments with high functional affinity for a tumor-associated carbohydrate antigen. *J. Immunol.*, **157**, 2989–2997.

Rich, R.L. and Myszka, D.G. 2000. Advances in surface plasmon resonance biosensor analysis. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **11**, 54–61.

Richardson, J.H and Marasco, W.A. 1995. Intracellular antibodies: development and therapeutic potential. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **13**, 306–310.

Ridgway, J.B.B., Presta, L.G. and Carter, P. 1996. "Knobs-into-holes" engineering of antibody  $C_H3$  domains for heavy chain heterodimerization. *Protein Eng.*, **9**, 617–621.

Robert, B., Dorvillius, M., Buchegger, F., Garambois, V., Mani, J.-C., Pugnieres, M., Mach, J.-P. and Pelegrin, A. 1999. Tumor targeting with newly designed biparatopic antibodies directed against two different epitopes of the carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA). *Int. J. Cancer*, **81**, 285–291.

Rohrmann, G.F. 1992. Baculovirus structural proteins. J. Gen. Virol., 73, 749–761.

Rongen, H.A.H., Built, A. and van Bennekom, W.P. 1997. Liposomes and immunoassays. J. Immunol. Methods, 204, 105–133.

Rose, C., Andrews, W., Ferguson, M., McKeating, J., Almond, J. and Evans, D. 1994. The construction and characterization of poliovirus antigen chimeras presenting defined regions of the human T lymphocyte marker CD4. *J. Gen. Virol.*, **75**, 969–977.

Russel, S.J., Hawkins, R.E. and Winter, G. 1993. Retroviral vectors displaying functional antibody fragments. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **21**, 1081–1085.

Salovuori, I., Makarov, M., Rauvala, H., Knowles, J. and Kääriäinen, L. 1987. Low molecular weight high-mannose type glycans in a secreted protein of the filamentous fungus *Trichoderma Reesei*. *Bio/Technology*, **5**, 152–156.

Saviranta, P., Haavisto, T., Rappu, P., Karp, M. and Lövgren, T. 1998. In vitro enzymatic biotinylation of recombinant Fab fragments through a peptide acceptor tail. *Bioconj. Chem.*, **9**, 725–735.

Schaffitzel, C., Hanes, J., Jermutus, L. and Plückthun, A. 1999. Ribosome display: an in vitro method for selection and evolution of antibodies from libraries. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **231**, 119–135.

Schier, R., Bye, J., Apell, G., McCall, A., Adams, G.P., Malmqvist, M., Weiner, L.M. and Marks, J.D. 1996a. Isolation of high-affinity monomeric human anti-*erb*B-2 single-chain Fv using affinity-driven selection. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **255**, 28–34.

Schier, R., McCall, A., Adams, G.P., Marshall, K.W., Merritt, H., Yim, M., Crawford, R.S., Weiner, L.M., Marks, C. and Marks, J.D. 1996b. Isolation of picomolar affinity anti-c-erbB-2 single-chain Fv by molecular evolution of the complementary determining regions in the center of the antibody binding site. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **263**, 551–567.

Schier, R. and Marks, J.D. 1996. Efficient *in vitro* affinity maturation of phage antibodies using BIAcore guided selections. *Hum. Antibod. Hybridomas*, **7**, 97–105.

Schreuder, M.P., Mooren, A.T.A., Toschka, H.Y., Verrips, C.T. and Klis, F.M. 1996. Immobilizing proteins on the surface of yeast cells. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **14**, 115–120.

Schroff, R.W., Foon, K.A., Beatty, S.M., Oldham, R.K. and Morgan, A.C. 1985. Human anti–murine immunoglobulin responses in patients receiving monoclonal antibody therapy. *Cancer Res.*, **45**, 879–885.

Segal, D.M., Weiner, G.J. and Weiner, L.M. 1999. Bispecific antibodies in cancer therapy. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.*, **11**, 558–562.

Shahinian, S. and Silvius, J.R. 1995. A novel strategy affords high-yield coupling of antibody Fab<sup>´</sup> fragments to liposomes. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, **1239**, 157–167.

Shawler, D.L., Bartholomew, R.M., Smith, L.M. and Dillman, R.O. 1985. Human immune response to multiple injections of murine monoclonal IgG. *J. Immunol.*, **135**, 1530–1535.

Sheets, M.D., Amersdorfer, P., Finnern, R., Sargent, P., Lindqvist, E., Schier, R., Hemingsen, G., Wong, C., Gerhart, J.C. and Marks, J.D. 1998. Efficient construction of a large nonimmune phage antibody library: the production of high-affinity human single-chain antibodies to protein antigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **95**, 6157–6162.

Shi, N. and Pardridge, W.M. 2000. Noninvasine gene targeting to the brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **97**, 7567–7572.

Sibler, A.-P., Kempf, E., Glacet, A., Orfanoudakis, G., Bourel, D. and Weiss, E. 1999. In vivo biotinylated recombinant antibodies: high efficiency of labelling and application to the cloning of active anti-human IgG1 Fab fragments. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **224**, 129–140.

Sieber, V., Plückthun, A. and Schmid, F.X. 1998. Selecting proteins with improved stability by a phage-based method. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **16**, 955–960.

Siegall, C.B., Chace, D., Mixan, B., Garrigues, U., Wan, H., Paul, L., Wolff, E., Hellström, I. and Hellström, K.E. 1994. In vitro and in vivo characterization of BR96 sFv-PE40. A single-chain immunotoxin fusion protein that cures human breast carcinoma xenografts in athymic mice and rats. *J. Immunol.*, **152**, 2377–2384.

Skerra, A. and Plückthun, A. 1988. Assembly of a functional immunoglobulin Fv fragment in *Escherichia coli*. *Science*. **240**, 1038–1041.

Smallshaw, J.E., Georges, F., Lee, J.S. and Waygood, E.B. 1999. Synthesis, cloning and expression of the single-chain Fv gene of the HPr-specific monoclonal antibody, Jel42. Determination of binding constants with wild-type and mutant HPrs. *Protein Eng.* **12**, 623–630.

Smith, G.P. 1985. Filamentous fusion phage: novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. *Science*, **228**, 1315–1317.

Sox, H.C. and Hood, L. 1970. Attachment of carbohydrate to the variable region of myeloma immunoglobulin light chains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **66**, 975–982.

Steinberger, P. Kraft, D. and Valenta, R. 1996. Construction of a combinatorial IgE library from an allergic patient. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **271**, 10967–10972.

Stemmer, W.P.C., Morris, S.K. and Wilson, B.S. 1993. Selection of an active single chain Fv antibody from a protein linker library prepared by enzymatic inverse PCR. *BioTechniques*, **14**, 256–265.

Ståhl, S. and Uhlén, M. 1997. Bacterial surface display: trends and progress. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **15**, 185–192.

Summers, M.D. and Volkman, L.E. 1976. Comparison of biophysical and morphological properties of occluded and extracellular nonoccluded baculovirus from in vivo and in vitro host systems. *J. Virol.*, **17**, 962–972.

Sutton, B. J. and Philips, D.C. 1983. The three-dimensional structure of the carbohydrate within the Fc fragment of immunoglobulin G. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **11**, 130–132.

Tai, M.-S., Mudgett-Hunter, M., Levinson, D., Wu, G.-M., Haber, E., Oppermann, H. and Huston, J.S. 1990. A bifunctional fusion protein containing Fc-binding fragment B of staphylococcal protein A amino terminal to antidigoxin single-chain Fv. *Biochemistry*, **29**, 8024–8030.

Takkinen, K., Laukkanen, M.-L., Sizmann, D., Alfthan, K., Immonen, T., Vanne, L., Kaartinen, M., Knowles, J.K.C. and Teeri, T.T. 1991. An active single-chain antibody containing a cellulase linker domain is secreted by *Escherichia coli*. *Protein Eng.*, **4**, 837–841.

Tang, Y., Jiang, N., Parakh, C. and Hilvert, D. 1996. Selection of linkers for a catalytic single-chain antibody using phage display technology. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **271**, 15682–15686.

Thompson, J., Pope, T., Tung, J.-S., Chan, C., Hollis, G., Mark, G. and Johson, K.S. 1996. Affinity maturation of a high-affinity human monoclonal antibody against the third hypervariable loop of human immunodeficiency virus: use of phage display to improve affinity and broaden strain reactivity. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **256**, 77–88.

Tomme, P., van Tilbeurgh, H., Pettersson, G., Vandekerchhove, J., Knowles, J., Teeri, T.T. and Claeyssens, M. 1988. Studies on the cellulolytic system of *Trichoderma reesei* QM9414. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **170**, 575–581.

Towbin, H., Staehelin, T. and Gordon, J. 1979. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **76**, 4350–4354.

Tseng, Y.-L., Hong, R.-L., Tao, M.-H. and Chang, F.-H. 1999. Sterically stabilized anti-idiotype immunoliposomes improve the therapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin in a murine B-cell lymphoma model. *Int. J. Cancer*, **80**, 723–730.

Turner, D.J., Ritter, M.A. and George, A.J.T. 1997. Importance of the linker in expression of single-chain Fv antibody fragments: optimisation of peptide sequence using phage display technology. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **205**, 43–54.

Urdal, D.L. and Hakomori, S. 1980. Tumor-associated ganglio-N-triosylceramide. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **255**, 10509–10515.

Vaidya, H.C. and Beatty, B.G. 1992. Eliminating interference from heterophilic antibodies in a two-site immunoassay for creatine kinase MB using  $(Fab')_2$  conjugate and polyclonal mouse IgG. *Clin. Chem.*, **38**, 1737–1742.

van Ewijk, W., de Kruif, J., Germeraad, W.T.V., Berendes, P., Röpke, C., Platenburg, P.P. and Logtenberg, T. 1997. Subtractive isolation of phagedisplayed single-chain antibodies to thymic stromal cells by using intact thymic fragments. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, **94**, 3903–3908.

van Spriel, A.B., van Ojik, H.H. and van de Winkel, J.G.J. 2000. Immunotherapeutic perpective for bispecific antibodies. *Immunol. Today*, **21**, 391–397.

Vaughan, T.J., Williams, A.J., Prichard, K., Osbourn, J.K., Pope, A.R., Earnshaw, J.C., McCafferty, J., Hodits, R.A., Wilton, J. and Johnson, K.S. 1996. Human antibodies with sub-nanomolar affinities isolated from a large nonimmunized phage display library. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **14**, 309–314.

Vaughan, T.J., Osbourn, J.K. and Tempest, P.R. 1998. Human antibodies by design. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **16**, 535–539.

Verma, R., Boleti, E. and George, A.J.T. 1998. Antibody engineering: comparison of bacterial, yeast, insect and mammalian expression systems. *J. Immunol. Methods*, **216**, 165–181.

Viti, F., Tarli, L., Giovannoni, L., Zardi, L and Neri, D. 1999. Increased binding affinity and valence of recombinant antibody fragments lead to improved targeting of tumoral angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, **59**, 347–352.

Wall, J.G. and Plückthun, A. 1999. The hierachy of mutations influencing the folding of antibody domains in *Escherichia coli*. *Protein Eng.* **12**, 605–611.

Wallick, S.C., Kabat., E.A. and Morrison, S.L. 1988. Glycosylation of a  $V_H$  residue of a monoclonal antibody against  $\alpha$  (1 $\rightarrow$ 6) dextran increases its affinity or antigen. *J. Exp. Med.*, **168**, 1099–1109.

Wels, W., Harwerth, I.-M., Zwickl, M., Hardman, N., Groner, B. and Hynes, N.E. 1992. Construction, bacterial expression and characterization of bifunctional single-chain antibody-phosphatase fusion protein targeted to the human erbB-2 receptor. *Bio/Technology*, **10**, 1128–1132.

Whitlow, M., Bell, B.A., Feng, S.-L., Filpula, D., Hardman, K.D., Hubert, S.L., Rollence, M.L., Wood, J.F., Schott, M.E., Milenic, D.E., Yokota, T. and Schlom, J. 1993. An improved linker for single-chain Fv with reduced aggregation and enhanced proteolytic stability. *Protein Eng.*, **6**, 989–995.

Whitlow, M., Filpula, D., Rollence, M.L., Feng, S.-L. and Wood, J. F. 1994. Multivalent Fvs: characterization of single-chain Fv oligomers and preparation of a bispecific Fv. *Protein Eng.*, **7**, 1017–1026.

Whitlow, M., Howard, A.J., Wood, J.F., Voss, Jr., E.W. and Hardman, K.D. 1995. 1.85Å structure of anti-fluorescein 4-4-20 Fab. *Protein. Eng.*, **8**, 749–761.

Williams, C. and Addona, T.A. 2000. The intergration of SPR biosensors with mass spectrometry: possible applications for proteome analysis. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **18**, 45–48.

Winter, G., Griffiths, A.D., Hawkins, R.E. and Hoogenboom, H.R. 1994. Making antibodies by phage display technology. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, **12**, 433–455.

Wu, A.M., Chen, W., Raubitschek, A., Williams, L.E., Neumaier, M., Fischer, R., Hu, S., Odom-Maryon, T., Wong, J.Y.C. and Shively, J.E. 1996. Tumor localization of anti-CEA single-chain Fvs: improved targeting by non-covalent dimers. *Immunotechnology*, **2**, 21–36.

Wu, A.M. and Yazaki, P.J. 1999. Designer genes: recombinant antibody fragments for biological imaging. *Q. J. Nucl. Med.*, **43**, 268–283.

Wu, A.M., Yazaki, P.J., Tsai, S., Nguyen, K., Anderson, A.-L., McCarthy, D.W., Welch, M.J., Shively, J.E., Williams, L.E., Raubotschek, A.A. *et al.*, 2000. High-resolution microPET imagining of carcinoembryonic antigenpositive xenografts by using a copper-64-labeled engineered antibody fragment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **97**, 8495–8500.

Wörn, A. and Plückthun, A. 1998. An intrinsically stable antibody scFv fragment can tolerate the loss of both disulfide bonds and fold correctly. *FEBS Letters*, **427**, 357–361.

Yokota, T., Milenic, D.E., Whitlow, M. and Schlom, J. 1992. Rapid tumor peneteration of a single-chain Fv and comparison with other immunoglobulin forms. *Cancer Res.*, **52**, 3402–3408.

Young, N.M., Jackson, G.E.D. and Brisson, J.-R. 1990. The glycopeptides of the mouse immunoglobulin A T15. *Mol. Immunol.*, **27**, 1083–1090.

Zdanov, A., Li, Y., Bundle, D.R., Deng, S.-J., MacKenzie, C.R., Narang, S.A., Young, N.M. and Cygler, M. 1994. Structure of a single-chain antibody variable domain (Fv) fragment complexed with a carbohydrate antigen at 1.7-Å resolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, **91**, 6423–6427.

Zhu, Z., Zapata, G., Shalaby, R., Snedecor, B., Chen, H. and Carter, P. 1996. High level secretion of human bispecific diabody from *Escherichia coli*. *Bio/Technology*, **14**, 192–196.

Appendices of this publication are not included in the PDF version. Please order the printed version to get the complete publication (http://otatrip.hut.fi/vtt/jure/index.html)
### Published by



Vuorimiehentie 5, P.O.Box 2000, FIN–02044 VTT, Finland Phone internat. +358 9 4561 Fax +358 9 456 4374 Series title, number and report code of publication

VTT Publications 432 VTT–PUBS–432

## Author(s) Alfthan, Kaija

# Structural stability and binding properties of soluble and membrane-anchored recombinant antibodies

#### Abstract

Title

Antibody engineering and advances in microbial expression systems have enabled production of small, active antibody fragments. However, the functional expression yields of these recombinant antibodies vary widely. The results described in this thesis elucidate factors influencing the expression of stable and active antibody fragments in bacteria. The model antibody used throughout this study was a mouse monoclonal antibody binding to 2-phenyloxazolone (Ox). It was shown that the first constant domain of the heavy chain (C<sub>H</sub>1) has a remarkable effect on secretion of functional and stable Fab fragments. Comparison of the production of the Ox IgG1 and Ox IgG3 subclass Fab fragments in bacteria demonstrated the superiority of the Ox IgG1 Fab compared to the Ox IgG3 Fab. In addition to its effect on secretion, the C<sub>H</sub>1 domain contributes to the thermal stability of the antibody fragments. To study the effect of a linker peptide on both proteolytic stability and binding activity of single-chain antibodies, six different Ox scFv derivatives and an Ox Fv fragment with no joining peptide between the variable domains were constructed. It was shown that joining of the variable domains with a linker peptide improved hapten binding properties compared to the Ox Fv fragment, but may expose the fragment to proteolytic degradation. Truncation of the linker peptide to less than 12 amino acids induced formation of dimers or multimers. The binding affinities determined for the monomeric Ox scFv and Ox IgG1 Fab fragments using the BIAcore biosensor and fluorescence quenching methods were close to each other and comparable to that of the parental monoclonal antibody.

In addition to studies with soluble antibody fragments, this work was extended to cover characterization of antibody fragments displayed on liposomes and on the surface of baculovirus. Immunoliposomes have potential applications both in therapy and in immunodiagnostics. In this work liposomes displaying antibodies were generated by incorporation of purified lipid-tagged Ox scFvs expressed in E. coli into phospholipid liposomes. It was demonstrated that the biosynthetically lipid-tagged Ox scFv molecules can be immobilized in a functional, stable and oriented manner onto liposomal membranes, resulting in immunoliposomes showing specific hapten binding. BIAcore analysis of the immunoliposomes revealed very slow dissociation from the Ox surface, which is in good agreement with the predicted multivalent nature of the immunoliposomes. The baculoviral display approach holds a promise as a candidate for a eukaryotic display system. In this work single-chain antibodies were used as a model to investigate functional expression of foreign proteins on the surface of baculovirus. Viral vectors displaying cell targeting moieties such as single-chain antibodies have aroused interest as gene transfer vehicles. Two Ox scFv derivatives and a human scFv specific for carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) were fused to the major envelope protein (gp64) of the Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus (AcNPV). It was shown that the two single-chain antibodies which contained a (GGGGS)<sub>3</sub> linker peptide were incorporated into the budded virus particles and expressed as functional hapten/antigen binding fragments on the viral surface. In the case of the third scFv containing a natural linker peptide derived from a fungal cellulase, less efficient incorporation into the virus particles was observed.

## Keywords

recombinant antibodies, antibody engineering, structural stability, binding, expression, Escherichia coli, display

Activity unit

VTT Biotechnology, Biomolecules, Tietotie 2, P.O.Box 1500, FIN-02044 VTT, Finland

ISBN 951–38–5842–1(soft back ed.) 951–38–5843–X (URL:http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/ )			Project number
Date	Language	Pages	Price
April 2001	English	105 p. + app. 39 p.	С
Name of project		Commissioned by	
Series title and ISSN		Sold by	
VTT Publications		VTT Information Service	
1235–0621 (soft back ed.)		P.O.Box 2000, FIN-02044 VTT, Finland	
1455-0849 (URL: http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/)		Phone internat. +358 9 456 4404	
		Fax +358 9 456 4374	